Connecticut Physical Climate Science Assessment Report (PCSAR)

Observed trends and projections of temperature and precipitation

August 2019









Sponsored by a grant from the Connecticut Institute for Resilience and Climate Adaptation (CIRCA).

CIRCA is a partnership between the University of Connecticut and the State of Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection. More information can be found at: www.circa.uconn.edu

Sponsored by a grant from the Connecticut Institute for Resilience and Climate Adaptation.

The Connecticut Institute for Resilience and Climate Adaptation (CIRCA) is a partnership between the <u>University of Connecticut</u> and the <u>State of Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental</u> <u>Protection</u>. CIRCA's mission is to increase the resilience and sustainability of vulnerable communities along Connecticut's coast and inland waterways to the growing impacts of climate change on the natural, built, and human environment.

More information about CIRCA can be found at <u>circa.uconn.edu</u>.



Connecticut Physical Climate Science Assessment Report (PCSAR)

I. About this report: Purpose, Funders, Authors, Reviewers

The purpose of this report is to provide an assessment of the state of the science regarding observed recent changes and projections for temperature and precipitation (i.e., physical climate) for Connecticut. The Connecticut Institute for Resilience and Climate Adaptation (CIRCA) at UConn with funding from the Department of Energy and Environmental Protection (DEEP) commissioned this report to foster dialogue about the changing climate between experts in physical climate and state/municipal/community groups involved in planning and adaptation to those changes in Connecticut. Although temperature and precipitation are the primary foci of this assessment, the author team is more broadly comprised of experts in climate science, climate modeling, land-atmosphere and hydrologic processes, social studies of science, and water management. All are members of the UConn Atmospheric Sciences Group – a collective of faculty across the university working on climate related research and education.

Authors at the University of Connecticut and their affiliations:

Anji Seth	Lead, Temperature	Chair, Atmospheric Sciences Group;	
		Professor, Department of Geography.	
Guiling Wang	Lead, Precipitation	Professor, Environmental Engineering	
Christine Kirchhoff	Climate Assessment	Assistant Professor, Environmental Engineering	
Kelly Lombardo	Cyclonic Storms	Associate Professor, Department of	
		Marine Sciences	
Scott Stephenson	Climate Assessment	Assistant Professor, Department of Geography	
Richard Anyah	Temperature	Associate Professor, Department of Natural	
		Resources and Environment	
Junya Wu	Temperature Indices	PhD Student, Department of Geography	

A draft version of this report has been reviewed by experts in physical climate science and assessment.

Reviewers and their affiliations:

Gilian Galford	University of Vermont
Joseph Barsugli	CIRES, University of Colorado
Ambarish Karmalkar	University of Massachusetts, Amherst
Mathew Barlow	University of Massachusetts, Lowell
Suzana J. Camargo	Lamont Doherty Earth Observatory, Columbia University

II. Acronyms, Data, and Indices referred to in this report.

Acronyn	n	Definition		
CIRCA		Connecticut Institute for Resilience and Climate Adaptation		
CH ₄		Methane		
CMIP		Coupled Model	Intercomparison Program (e.g., CMIP5, Taylor et al., 2012)	
CO ₂		Carbon dioxide		
DEEP		Connecticut De	partment of Energy and Environmental Protection	
DJF		December-Jar	nuary-February	
ETCCDI		Expert team on	climate change detection and indices	
GCMs		Global climate r	nodels	
GEV		Generalized ext	reme value	
GHCN		Global Historica	l Climatology Network (Menne et al., 2012)	
H ₂ Ov		Water vapor		
IR		Infrared radiatio	n	
JJA		June-July-August		
Livneh		Meteorological data, gridded (~6km resolution, Livneh et al., 2015)		
LOCA		Localized const	ructed analogs (Pierce et al., 2014, 2015)	
MACA		Multivariate ada	ptive constructed analogs (Abatzoglou and Brown, 2012)	
MAM		March-April-I	Мау	
METDAT	A	Meteorological	data, gridded (~4km resolution, Abatzoglou, 2011)	
NCDC		National Climatic Data Center climate divisional data (Karl and Koss, 1984)		
O ₃		Ozone		
RCMs		Regional climate models		
RCPs		Representative Concentration Pathways (e.g., RCP8.5, Van Vuuren et al., 2010)		
SON		September-October-November		
WCRP		World Climate Research Program		
Index	Inc	dex name	Definitions	Units
Tempera	ture	e Indices (daily ma	aximum and minimum)	1
TXX	Wa	armest day Annual maximum value of daily maximum temp °F		

TNN	Coldest night Annual minimum value of daily minimum temp		°F
Daytime Heat Indices			
SU	Summer days	Annual count when TX (daily maximum) >25°C (77°F)	
WSDI	Warm Spells	Annual count of warm spell days, where a warm spell is 6 or more consecutive days with TX>90th percentile	r Days
Nightime	Heat Indices		
TR	Tropical nights	Annual count when TN (daily minimum) >20°C (68°F)	Days
GSL	Growing season length	Annual count between first span of at least 6 days with TG>5°C (41°F) and first span after July 1 of 6 days with TG<5°C	C Days
Daytime	Cold Indices		
ID	Ice days	Annual count when TX (daily maximum) <0°C (32°F)	Days
CSDI	Cold spells	Annual count of cold spell days, where a cold spell is 6 or more consecutive days with TN<10th percentile	e Days
Nightime	Cold Indices		
FD	Frost days	Annual count when TN (daily minimum) <0°C (32°F)	
DTR Daily range of temperature		Annual mean difference between TX and TN	
	temperature		
Index	Index name	Definitions	Units
Index Drought	Index name	Definitions	Units
Index Drought CDD	Index name Risk Dry Days	Definitions Maximum number of consecutive dry days for JJA	Units Days
Index Drought CDD SII	Index name Risk Dry Days Simple Intensity	Definitions Maximum number of consecutive dry days for JJA Simple intensity index (average precipitation per wet day)	Units Days Inches/ Day
Index Drought CDD SII aPE	Index name Risk Dry Days Simple Intensity Annual P-PET	Definitions Maximum number of consecutive dry days for JJA Simple intensity index (average precipitation per wet day) Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, annual	Units Days Inches/ Day Inches
Index Drought CDD SII aPE sPE	Index name Risk Dry Days Simple Intensity Annual P-PET Summer P-PET	Definitions Maximum number of consecutive dry days for JJA Simple intensity index (average precipitation per wet day) Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, annual Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, JJA	Units Days Inches/ Day Inches
Index Drought CDD SII aPE sPE N_wet	Index name Index name Risk Dry Days Simple Intensity Annual P-PET Summer P-PET Wet Days	Definitions Maximum number of consecutive dry days for JJA Simple intensity index (average precipitation per wet day) Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, annual Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, JJA Annual count of wet days, Prec > 0.04 inches	Units Days Inches/ Day Inches Inches
Index Drought CDD SII aPE sPE N_wet Flood Ris	Index name Risk Dry Days Simple Intensity Annual P-PET Summer P-PET Wet Days	Definitions Maximum number of consecutive dry days for JJA Simple intensity index (average precipitation per wet day) Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, annual Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, JJA Annual count of wet days, Prec > 0.04 inches	Units Days Inches/ Day Inches Inches Days
Index Drought CDD SII aPE sPE N_wet Flood Ris N_1inch	Index name Index name Risk Dry Days Simple Intensity Annual P-PET Summer P-PET Wet Days sk	Definitions Maximum number of consecutive dry days for JJA Simple intensity index (average precipitation per wet day) Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, annual Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, JJA Annual count of wet days, Prec > 0.04 inches Annual count when daily Prec >1 inch	Units Days Days Inches/ Day Inches Days
Index Drought CDD SII aPE sPE N_wet Flood Ris N_1inch N99	Index name Risk Dry Days Simple Intensity Annual P-PET Summer P-PET Wet Days sk Rain Days Heavy Rain Days	Definitions Maximum number of consecutive dry days for JJA Simple intensity index (average precipitation per wet day) Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, annual Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, JJA Annual count of wet days, Prec > 0.04 inches Annual count when daily Prec >1 inch Annual count of days with precipitation > 99th percentile	Units Days Inches/ Day Inches Days Days Days
Index Drought CDD SII aPE sPE N_wet Flood Ris N_1inch N99	Index name Index name Risk Dry Days Simple Intensity Annual P-PET Summer P-PET Wet Days Sk Heavy Rain Days Heavy Rain Fraction	Definitions Maximum number of consecutive dry days for JJA Simple intensity index (average precipitation per wet day) Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, annual Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, JJA Annual count of wet days, Prec > 0.04 inches Annual count when daily Prec >1 inch Annual count of days with precipitation > 99th percentile Fraction of annual precipitation accounted for by N99	Units Units Units Units Units Units Unches/ Day Unches Inches Days Days Days %
Index Drought CDD SII aPE sPE N_wet Flood Ris N_1inch N99 F99 R1d	Index name Index name Risk Dry Days Simple Intensity Annual P-PET Summer P-PET Wet Days Sk Rain Days Heavy Rain Days Heavy Rain Fraction Max 1day Rain	Definitions Maximum number of consecutive dry days for JJA Simple intensity index (average precipitation per wet day) Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, annual Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, JJA Annual count of wet days, Prec > 0.04 inches Annual count when daily Prec >1 inch Annual count of days with precipitation > 99th percentile Fraction of annual precipitation accounted for by N99 Maximum daily precipitation	Units Units Days Inches Inches Days Days Days Oays % Inches

Return Periods			
X_10 X_20 X_50 X_100	Any index	Present climate extreme value of index with return period of 10, 20, 50, and 100 years respectively defined for various precipitation indicators X such as R1d, R5d, and low tail of aPE (annual P-PET) and sPE (summer P-PET)	See index units above
T_X_10 T_X_20 T_X_50 T_X_100	Any index	Future return period of the X_10, X_20, X_50, X_100 for precipitation index X including R1d, R5d, aPE, and sPE	years

Table of Contents

Key Findings 3	
1. Introduction 5	
1.1 Overview 5	
1.2 Scope of this Assessment 6	
2. Climate Model Projections 8	
2.1 Understanding Climate Scenarios82.2 Localizing Climate Projections10	
2.3 Observations and Projections Used in this Report 112.4 Analysis Methods 12	
3. Temperature changes in Connecticut 13	
 3.1 Temperature in the Northeast U.S. Expectations of temperature changes Review of prior research for the Northeast 14 	
 3.2 New Analysis of Temperature for Connecticut Observed Annual and Seasonal Temperatures Projections of Annual and Seasonal Temperatures Summary: Average Temperatures 15 	
 3.3 Daily Temperature Extremes in the Northeast U.S. 19 Review of prior research for the Northeast 19 Daily temperature indices for Connecticut 20 	
 3.4 New Analysis of Daily Temperature Extremes for Connecticut Daily Temperature Indices 22 Projections of Heat Risk 23 Projections of Cold Risk 26 Summary: Temperature Extremes 28 	22
4. Precipitation Changes in Connecticut 29	
 4.1 Precipitation in the Northeast U.S. 29 Literature Review of Average Precipitation 29 4.2 New Analysis of Precipitation for Connecticut 31 	
Observations and projections of annual and seasonal precipitation	31

Summary: Average Precipitation 36

4.3 Daily Precipitation Extremes in the Northeast U.S. 36 Definition of Extreme Precipitation Indices 36 Literature Review of Precipitation Extremes 37 4.4 New Analysis of Daily Precipitation Extremes for Connecticut 40 Projections of Drought Risk 44 Summary: Drought Risk 46 **Projections of Flood Risk** 47 Summary: Flood Risk 53 4.5 Storms that Affect Connecticut 54 Mid-Latitude Storms (Extratropical Cyclones) 54 Atlantic Hurricanes (Tropical Cyclones) 55 5. Research Gaps and Recommendations 57

References 59

Key Findings

All projections analyzed for this assessment employ the high CO₂ emissions scenario (RCP8.5). There is high confidence in projected changes through mid-century. Actual temperature and precipitation changes, particularly after mid-century, will depend on mitigation actions taken in Connecticut and globally. Updates to this assessment should be performed every five years as new observations and scientific findings become available. Key findings from this assessment:

- Observed changes in temperature
 - Since 1895, increases are seen in annual (0.3°F/decade) and seasonal average temperatures, with the greatest increase experienced in winter (December— February, 0.4°F/decade).
- Projected changes in temperature for the high CO₂ (RCP8.5) scenario
 - Large increases are projected for annual changes in temperature (+5 to +8°F annual mean, mid- and late-century, respectively) and in seasonal average temperatures for all regions in the state, with the greatest increase experienced in summer (June-August, +6°F) by mid-century and fall (September-November, +10°F) by late-century.
- Observed changes in annual temperature extremes since 1980
 - Effects of warming are seen in all temperature indices.
 - The temperature of both warmest (TXX) and coldest (TNN) days of the year has increased.
 - Increases are seen in the number of summer days (SU: Tmax > 77°F), tropical nights (TR: Tmin > 68°F), and growing season length (GSL).
 - Decreases are observed in the number of frost days (FD: Tmin $< 32^{\circ}$ F).
 - Other notable changes that do not meet the threshold for significance include:
 - Increases are being seen in the number of warm spell days (WSDI).
 - Decreases are being observed in the number of ice days (ID), cold spell days (CSDI), and diurnal temperature range (DTR).
- Projected changes in annual temperature extremes for the high CO₂ (RCP8.5) scenario
 - All temperature indices examined show large changes in response to continued, accelerating warming.
 - Tropical nights (TR: Tmin > 68°F) quadruple from 10days (present) to more than 40days at mid-century and nearly 70days in late century.
 - Warm spell days (WSDI) occur ~4/year (present), and increase to 48/year by midcentury and more than 100/year by late century.
 - Frost days (FD: Tmin < 32 °F) decrease from 124 days (present) by 39 days at mid-century and by 64 days in late century.

- Observed changes in precipitation
 - Annual precipitation over most of the state has increased, with the largest increase experienced in summer (since 1950) or fall (since 1895) and a slight decrease during winter.
- Projected changes in precipitation for the high CO₂ (RCP8.5) scenario
 - Annual precipitation across the state is projected to increase (8.5% and 9.5%, by mid- and late-century respectively), with the greatest increase projected for winter (13.4% & 16.3% respectively) and spring (10% and 16.5% respectively) and inconclusive changes in the other two seasons.
- Observed changes in precipitation extremes since 1980
 - Rainfall intensity (simple intensity index, SII) has increased and the number of wet days (N_wet) has decreased.
 - Other notable changes that do not meet the threshold for statistical significance include:
 - Potential water availability as represented by the difference between precipitation and potential evapotranspiration (aPE) has increased, reflecting slightly reduced drought risk in the recent record.
 - Increases are seen in the number of days with more than 1 inch of precipitation (N_1inch), number of heavy precipitation days (N99, with precipitation exceeding the 99th percentile), fraction of annual precipitation accounted for by heavy precipitation (F99), and daily maximum precipitation (R1d), all indicating increasing flood risk.
- Projected changes in precipitation extremes for the high CO₂ (RCP8.5) scenario
 - Potential water availability as represented by the difference between precipitation and potential evapotranspiration (aPE) is projected to decrease (by 22%, late-century), reflecting significant increase of drought risk, with greater decreases projected for summer.
 - Several extreme precipitation indices are projected to increase, including the number of days with more than 1 inch of precipitation (N_1inch), number of heavy precipitation days (N99), fraction of total precipitation accounted for by heavy precipitation (F99), and the maximum 1-day and 5-day precipitation (R1d, R5d), all indicating a substantial increase of flood risk by mid-century.
 - The frequency of previously rare extreme events, including extremely low annual and summer water availability (aPE, sPE) and extremely high 1-day and 5-day precipitation (R1d, R5d), is projected to increase by a factor of 2-4 (mid-century).

1. Introduction

1.1 Overview

Climate is changing in Connecticut. The warmest 10 years on record in Connecticut have occurred since 1990, with half of these since 2010, underscoring a statewide warming of 2.2°F since 1895. With increasing temperatures comes more humidity, which leads to more precipitation and more intense precipitation events. Superstorm Sandy, Hurricane Irene and several recent Nor'easters have resulted in unprecedented coastal damage and inland flooding. The changes we are seeing in Connecticut are part of the global trend. Globally Earth's surface temperatures have warmed by 1.8°F since 1901 and humidity has increased by 3.5% since the 1970s (Wuebbles, et al, 2017). Scientific evidence is clear that these climatic trends are expected to continue (IPCC, 2013; Wuebbles, et al, 2017; also Sections 3 and 4) through the mid-21st century, and the extent of changes thereafter depend on human decisions being made now.

The State of Connecticut has initiated research and planning for the types of actions that will be required throughout the state to adapt to a changing climate. This is in addition to the efforts already in progress to reduce the causes of warming. Planning for adaptation, however, requires localized information about expected changes in climate. Until recently the spatial scale of climate projections did not allow for detailed regional analysis. For this reason, climate assessments have been performed on global and national scales, with limited regional information.

Assessments are processes for bringing together and integrating scientific knowledge to provide relevant information to decision makers (NAS 2007). The IPCC Fifth Assessment Report (IPCC, 2013) and U.S. National Climate Assessments (USGCRP, 2014; Wuebbles et al., 2017) synthesized thousands of studies on the physical climate and its impacts on sectors such as water, energy, transportation, health, and agriculture, along with numerous potential mitigation and adaptation response strategies. These assessments also utilized a variety of monitoring, modeling, and forecasting methods to develop a range of plausible climate scenarios that provide the basis for projecting future climate change.

From past assessments and research, we know that global climate trends are likely to be accompanied by a marked increase in the frequency of many types of extreme weather events. Around the world, heat waves warmer than the warmest currently on record are expected to occur in half of summers within the next 10-20 years (Camargo and Seth, 2016; Mueller et al., 2016). In the U.S. Northeast, warm, wet weather extremes are expected to increase significantly by midcentury, with particularly heavy increases in winter precipitation in northern, coastal, and mountainous areas (Thibeault and Seth, 2014; Thibeault and Seth, 2015). Even if the baseline goals of the United Nations 2015 Paris Agreement to keep the global temperature rise below 2 deg Celsius (3.6 deg F) are met, extreme events will be more than twice as likely as under a scenario of ambitious emissions reductions, with the largest relative increases in rarer, more severe weather events (Kharin et al. 2018).

While national and international climate assessments generate cutting edge consensus-based scientific summaries for decision makers, this information often falls short of being usable for decision-making especially at local levels. Problems with usability arise primarily because of mismatches between the resolution of climate model output and the spatiotemporal scale of

local decisions (Cohen 1996; Galford et al., 2016) as well as failures to produce locally actionable information (Galford et al., 2016; Kirchhoff et al. 2013; NAS 2016).

State-level climate assessments aim to align the scale of information and practitioner engagement to support local decision-making (e.g., assessments for the U.S. states of Colorado (Lukas et al. 2014), Vermont (Galford et al. 2014), and Massachusetts (EEA and Adaptation Advisory Committee 2011)). For example, statistical downscaling of global-scale climate projections are now available and can be used to more effectively represent localized scenarios of future climate (Ahmed et al. 2013; Smid and Costa 2017). Similarly, capturing regional land and ocean effects helps to capture the variation in both past and projected sealevel rise. Capturing changes in local climate and sea-level rise helps local decision makers to adapt to changing conditions and enable coastal communities to more effectively implement site-specific coastal adaptation infrastructure and planning (O'Donnell, 2017; NOAA, 2017). State-level climate assessments also help to build understanding and create opportunities for discourse about climate changes and their impacts among local stakeholders through engagement processes (Hegger et al. 2012).

Connecticut stands to benefit from state-level focus on actionable climate science. Recently, the Connecticut Institute for Resilience and Climate Adaptation (CIRCA), a multi-disciplinary center at the University of Connecticut comprising experts in the natural and social sciences, engineering, economics, business, political science, finance, and law, has made significant strides toward promoting climate research and building adaptive capacity in vulnerable communities. In partnership with the Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection (DEEP), CIRCA aims to combine research and community engagement to improve resilience and sustainability of the natural and built environment throughout Connecticut. While previous state-sponsored initiatives have focused on preparedness for climate impacts in Connecticut (Gornitz et al., 2004; CT DEEP, 2010; CT DEEP 2011), they have highlighted a need for a comprehensive state-wide scientific assessment of temperature and precipitation trends and projections. To meet the climate adaptation challenges of the coming decades, CIRCA and DEEP have issued a call for improved information on past and future temperature, precipitation, and extremes at the state level. This report answers that call.

1.2 Scope of this Assessment

This assessment describes the current state of knowledge of the physical science underpinning observed and projected climate trends and extremes in Connecticut. In addition to reviewing past changes in temperature and precipitation from station measurements and gridded meteorological datasets, *this assessment will present future scenarios based on new high-resolution downscaled projections from a suite of global climate models produced for this report*. While our geographical focus is on Connecticut, findings will be placed within the broader context of regional climate change throughout New England and the US Northeast. Analysis of sea-level rise projections for the state has been conducted prior to this report (O'Donnell, 2018). Given the focus on the physical science, a detailed analysis of climate impacts and responses, including social, economic and political dimensions of climate change such as vulnerability, resilience, and adaptation strategies, is beyond the scope of this assessment.

We present an expert assessment of recent-observed changes in and projections of temperature and precipitation for Connecticut. The intention is to initiate dialogue between experts in physical climate and practitioners involved in planning and adaptation. This assessment supports ongoing and future sector-level planning and adaptation decision-making

efforts by state and local governments, commercial enterprises, and NGOs in Connecticut. The structure of the report is as follows: Section 2 provides essential knowledge of climate, weather, scenarios, model projections, uncertainties, and the data analyzed in this report. Section 3 presents a review of the literature and new analyses of observed and projected temperature changes. Section 4 follows a similar structure for precipitation changes and includes a review of mid-latitude and tropical storms affecting the state. The assessment concludes with a discussion of the critical research gaps and needs for a useable and continued assessment (Section 5).

2. Climate Model Projections

2.1 Understanding Climate Scenarios

To project future climate, we must make assumptions about changes in the major drivers of climate, the most important of which are greenhouse gases (among which CO₂ has the longest lifetime in the atmosphere). We know that temperature increases will depend on the amount of CO₂ that accumulates in the atmosphere, but we do not know how much will accumulate, because future concentrations of CO₂ will depend on our collective global decisions regarding the continued use of fossil fuels. Indeed, human choice is the largest uncertainty in projections of climate at the end of the 21st century. To address this uncertainty, a suite of scenarios has been developed to establish a plausible range of possible climate futures (Van Vuuren et al., 2011). These Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs) are assumptions about the evolution of atmospheric CO₂ and other greenhouse gases and their effect on earth's energy balance (its "radiative forcing" of climate). Radiative forcing is the imbalance between incoming and outgoing energy due to increases in greenhouse gases and other drivers of climate change. It is measured in Watts per square meter. An imbalance of just a few W/m² acting over a long enough time can warm the Earth by several degrees Celsius (see Fig. SB2.1). The RCPs describe four possible climate futures, all of which are considered possible depending on rates of greenhouse gases emissions in the years to come. Each RCP (RCP2.6, RCP4.5, RCP6, and RCP8.5) is named for resulting radiative forcing value in the year 2100 relative to pre-industrial values (+2.6, +4.5, +6.0, and +8.5 W/m², respectively). These scenarios provide critical driving inputs for climate model projections of the 21st century.

The scientific history (experimental, theoretical and numerical) exploring the role of CO₂ in Earth's climate spans more than 160 years. Our best current tools for projecting future climate are 3-dimensional numerical climate models based on physical laws that govern energy and motion in the atmosphere, oceans, sea ice, land and vegetation. Climate models have been in development by more than 30 scientific groups around the world. Coordinated experiments under the World Climate Research Program (WCRP) Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP) are performed wherein each model is driven with agreed upon inputs, including the RCPs. The latest available model experiments are from the CMIP5 database (Taylor et al., 2012). CMIP6 is underway as of the writing of this report (Eyring, 2018).

RCP8.5 is a high concentration pathway and it is noted that atmospheric GHG concentrations in recent years have closely tracked RCP8.5 (Sanford et al., 2014) which has been used to drive the CMIP5 RCP8.5 future climate projections. Aggressive actions taken globally to meet the 2015 Paris Agreement objectives would require a low concentration pathway similar to RCP2.6. Because adequate global commitments are not yet in place, we focus on the high radiative forcing (RCP8.5) pathway for future projections.

It is important to understand the uncertainties inherent in climate model projections (Hawkins and Sutton, 2009). The largest uncertainty in projecting global average temperature after mid-21st century is the so-called *scenario uncertainty*, that results from how much CO₂ is accumulated in the atmosphere (the RCPs). Other sources of uncertainty can be more important in the near-term projections. Some uncertainty results from the models themselves, because the numerical representation of physical processes is not exact. This *model uncertainty* will always exist to some extent. There is also uncertainty internal to the climate system because the atmosphere, oceans, ice and land all vary on differing time scales and interact in ways that create variations from year-to-year and decade-to-decade without any external forcing. An example of this *internal variability* in the climate system is El Niño, a coupled ocean-atmosphere oscillation across the tropical Pacific Ocean that can cause worldwide drought, flooding and temperature extremes. In the near term (the next ~10-20 years) internal variability, or variations in climate that result from dynamics within the complex

Sidebox 2.1: Why are temperatures increasing?

Earth's average temperature is set by a balance between sunlight, net inflow of energy, in the form of visible radiation, and heat loss to space or outflow of energy, in the form of infrared (IR) radiation. This is referred to as Earth's radiation (or energy) balance. Any driver that influences the radiation balance will compose a "radiative forcing". For the Earth as a whole, when incoming sunlight and outgoing heat loss are equal, the global average temperature does not change. The past 10,000 years provide an example of relative stability in climate. Changes in Earth's average temperature [Level, Fig. SB2.1] occur when incoming sunlight [Inflow, Fig.SB2.1] and outgoing heat [Outflow, Fig. SB2.1] are not in balance. When there is more incoming sunlight than outgoing heat loss, earth's temperature [Level] increases. When there is more heat loss to space. Earth's temperature decreases. This means there are two primary "drivers" that can change Earth's average temperature: incoming sunlight and heat loss to space. Changes in sunlight result from earth's orbital variations on timescales of 10.000 to 100.000 years, while changes in heat loss result from the amount of greenhouse gases (carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), and others) [Clog, Fig. SB2.1] in the atmosphere, which absorb and direct heat downward to the surface thereby reducing the heat loss to space. Over millions of years, Earth's past temperature changes have resulted from both of these drivers. At present the known changes in sunlight are small, and human use of fossil fuels (coal, oil, gas) are adding CO₂ and CH₄ to the atmosphere at a rate unprecedented in the geologic record [increasing the Clog]. There is very high confidence (more than 95% probability) that observed temperature increases are due to the imbalance of earth's energy budget resulting from human emissions of greenhouse gases (CO₂, CH₄). Note that temperature [Level] will continue to increase until the outgoing heat loss to space [Outflow] increases enough to once again equal the incoming sunlight [Inflow].



Figure SB2.1. Earth's energy balance determines its global average temperature and can be described by a sink analogy.

climate system, remains an important source of uncertainty. At regional and local spatial scales these variations can continue to be important even after mid-century.

2.2 Localizing Climate Projections

Climate projections are typically conducted using global climate models (GCMs) having spatial resolutions of 1-3 degrees of latitude and longitude (~100-300 km). However, development of local and state-level adaptation strategies requires climate projections at a much finer spatial scale, often at several kilometers resolution. To bridge this scale gap, climate downscaling can be used to translate the large spatial scales of the GCMs to smaller scales relevant to local decision making.

The dynamical downscaling method makes use of regional climate models (RCMs), which essentially function as a "mini-GCM" over a limited area. The boundaries of the specified region are "driven" by data from GCMs or observations. However, dynamical downscaling is still prohibitively costly, does not provide sufficiently high resolution, and may introduce additional errors (e.g., Mearns et al., 2012; Ahmed et al., 2013). For example, the North American Regional Climate Change Assessment Program (Means et al., 2019) produced dynamic downscaling of future climate projections using several RCMs but at a 50-km resolution, which is still too coarse for local and state assessment.

An alternative method is statistical downscaling, which due to its computational efficiency is frequently used to downscale a large number of GCMs and even RCMs (e.g., Ahmed et al., 2013). Many statistical downscaling approaches have been proposed (e.g., Gutmann et al., 2014; Abatzoglou and Brown, 2012; Pierce et al., 2014), and most are based on the assumption that the statistical relationships between large-scale atmosphere and local-scale observational data established for the present-day climate still hold in future climate. Two of these approaches have been applied to develop multi-model climate projection databases for the entire United States at a spatial resolution of several kilometers, including the Multivariate

Sidebox 2.2: Uncertainty in Projections of Future Climate

Uncertainties in future climate projections stem from three primary sources: natural climatic variability (internal variability), imperfect knowledge of the climate system (model uncertainty). and the unclear trajectory of future greenhouse gas emissions (scenario uncertainty). Scientists analyze simulations of earth's climate from an array of climate models in order to understand the range of possible climate futures and their attendant uncertainties. While it is impossible to formulate universal criteria for selecting a single "best" climate model, it is common scientific practice to select a subset of models that simulate well the observed global climate and the relevant climate processes for a particular area. In this report, we discuss results from eight high-performing models that accurately reproduce historical climate trends and patterns in Connecticut, while also ensuring diversity in model response to greenhouse gas forcing. The new results presented here focus where models exhibit a high degree of agreement regarding the sign of the change, signaling areas where climate projections are likely to be robust and reliable. Such areas of model agreement change are plotted with color (non-white) on maps in this report (see, for example, Fig. 3.2 on page 17). We highlight regions where projected changes are significant – in other words, where such a change could have happened by chance less than 10% of the time. The hatching patterns indicate regions that do not show a significant change.

Adaptive Constructed Analogs approach (MACA, Abatzoglou and Brown, 2012) and the Localized Constructed Analogs approach (LOCA, Pierce et al., 2014, 2015). Both MACA and LOCA are "weather analog" methods that take GCM output and find analogous weather patterns from a historical database. The two methods differ in the number of analogs used to determine the values of climate variables (especially precipitation) at each grid cell. For example, MACA averages across multiple chosen analogs, while LOCA chooses a single analog that provides the best match. Both methods apply bias corrections to the present day GCM data, but at different stages of processing.

The MACA approach (Abatzoglou and Brown, 2012) has been applied to daily output from 20 CMIP5 GCMs to develop the MACAv2-METDATA database (referred to as MACA hereafter), using gridded METDATA (Abatzoglou, 2011) as the observational reference for algorithm training and bias correction at a 1/24 degree (~4km) spatial resolution. The LOCA approach has been applied to daily output from 32 CMIP5 GCMs to develop the LOCA database (Piece et al., 2014, 2015), using the Livneh et al. (2015) gridded observational reference for algorithm training and bias correction at a 1/16 degree (~6km) spatial resolution.

2.3 Observations and Projections Used in this Report

Most recent studies of temperature and rainfall have been conducted at the regional level (i.e., Northeast U.S.). To obtain locally specific information for Connecticut, new analyses are performed based on meteorological station data for past observations, and high-resolution gridded data for past climate and future projections. Employed in this analysis are daily precipitation, and maximum and minimum temperatures. The datasets are detailed below and given in Table 2.1.

The meteorological station observations of temperature and precipitation are from the Global Historical Climatology Network (GHCN) archive (Menne et al., 2012) and the National Climatic

	Data	Period	Resolution	Reference
Station	GHCN	1950-2005	_	Menne et al., 2012
Observations	NCDC Climate	1895-2015	_	Karl and Koss, 1984
Gridded	METDATA	1980-2017	4km	Abatzoglou, 2011
Observations	Livneh	1950-2013	6km	Livneh et al., 2015
Gridded Simulations and Projections	MACA	1980-2005 2006-2099	4km	Abatzoglou and Brown, 2012
	LOCA	1950-2005 2006-2099	6km	Livneh et al., 2015

Table 2.1. Datasets employed in this assessment of temperature and rainfall for Connecticut.

Data Center (NCDC) Connecticut Climate Divisional data for statewide analysis (Karl and Koss, 1984).

Two gridded observational datasets have been examined, including METDATA (which is the training data for MACA) available for the period 1980-2017 at a 4-km resolution and the data of Livneh et al. (2015) (which is the training data for LOCA) available for the period 1950-2013 at a 6-km resolution. Because the Livneh et al. (2015) data record is longer than METDATA, in this assessment, we use the Livneh et al. (2015) data to assess the observed trends and changes of average temperature, precipitation and indicators involving temporal accumulation of precipitation. The Livneh et al. (2015) data is also used to evaluate temperature extremes. The METDATA is used to assess observed trends in precipitation extremes represented by daily statistics because of its greater fidelity to daily observation in Connecticut. The future projections for temperature, precipitation, and extremes are based on MACA data.

The greater fidelity of the METDATA can be seen in Figure A-2.1 which compares the daily precipitation from the two datasets with meteorological station data during several extreme events over southwest Connecticut. Daily precipitation in METDATA agrees remarkably well with observations from meteorological stations in Connecticut (and other states of the Northeast as well). The Livneh et al. (2015) data tends to underestimate heavy precipitation and overestimate light precipitation. However, when precipitation is aggregated over a longer time period (e.g., 5 days, monthly, annual), the difference between the two datasets becomes negligible.

2.4 Analysis Methods

Projected future changes in temperature, precipitation, and various extreme indices are assessed based on the 8-model ensemble from MACA, and our assessment focuses on both the mid-century (2040-69) and late century (2070-99) under RCP8.5 relative to the late 20th century (1970-99). Standard statistical tests are applied to determine if changes and trends are larger than would be expected from random variations alone. The MACA multi-model ensemble mean of the various extreme indices closely resemble the indices from the observational reference METDATA, as expected due to the use of bias correction in the MACA methodology. On a year-to-year basis the multi-model ensemble mean is not expected to agree with observations, since taking the multi-model ensemble mean eliminates most of the inter-annual variation associated with the model and internal variability.

To assess future changes of temperature and precipitation extremes, all indices are estimated for each of the three 30-year periods (1970-99, 2040-69, and 2070-99). For each period, most indices are defined for each of the 30 years, and their 30-year averages are used as the representative for that period. Some indices involve the estimation of recurrence interval (T) of a given event size and/or the event size (XT) corresponding to a given recurrence interval; these are defined through frequency analysis by fitting a theoretical distribution to the 30 years of data in each period for each model. Specifically, data from each of the 30 years are used to estimate the parameters of a theoretical distribution, and the derived parameters of distribution are then used to estimate the theoretical T or XT. Our frequency analysis in this report assumes normal distribution for the annual and seasonal water availability (P-PET), and assumes Generalized Extreme Value (GEV) distribution for the 1-day maximum precipitation (R1d) and 5-day maximum precipitation (R5d). The L-moments methods (Hoskins, 1990; Kharin et al., 2013) is used to estimate the GEV distribution parameters.

3. Temperature changes in Connecticut

Temperatures are changing in Connecticut, and warming is expected to accelerate for all measures of temperature and related extremes in the high CO2 (RCP8.5) scenario. In this chapter we will show that since 1895, increases are seen in annual (0.3°F/decade) and seasonal average temperatures, with the greatest increase experienced in winter (December—February, 0.4°F/decade). Larger increases are projected for annual changes in temperature (+5 to +8°F annual mean, mid- and late-century, respectively). Projections indicate that all temperature indices examined, including nighttime heat and warm spells show large changes in response to continued, accelerating warming. Here we will first review the published literature and then present a new analysis of temperature changes for Connecticut.

3.1 Temperature in the Northeast U.S.

Expectations of temperature changes

The theoretical foundations for the "Greenhouse Theory of Climate"¹ were established in the mid-1800s as scientists investigated potential causes of the northern hemisphere glacial advance that peaked ~20,000 years ago (Fourier, 1824; Tyndall, 1861). The physical chemistry of greenhouse gases (carbon dioxide [CO₂], methane [CH₄], water vapor [H₂Ov], ozone [O₃], and others) is well understood: each of these gases interacts with earth's infra-red (IR) "heat" radiation and direct of this heat, otherwise lost to outer space, downward to warm the surface. Of the greenhouse gases, CO₂ is the most important driver of change because of its longlifetime in the atmosphere (effectively 100s of years), in contrast to water vapor, which is more abundant but remains in the atmosphere for only weeks to months, and hence acts to amplify the changes driven by CO_2 . In this way greenhouse gases are major players in earth's energy balance and, consequently, in determining our planet's average temperature, a fact that is supported by multiple lines of evidence, including theory, observations, models, and paleoclimate proxies (IPCC, 2013). The Greenhouse Theory of Climate indicates that higher concentrations of greenhouse gases result in warmer temperatures at earth's surface, while lower atmospheric concentrations cool surface temperature globally. Atmospheric CO₂ has increased from 280 parts per million (pre-industrial, 1860s value) to over 410 parts per million. Earth's surface temperature is responding to the radiative imbalance caused by the ongoing rapid increase in CO₂, and global average temperature has increased by +1.8°F between 1901-2016 (Wuebbles et al., 2017).

Early calculations indicated that greenhouse warming of earth's climate would not be equally distributed; rather, polar regions would experience larger changes in temperature (because of amplifying processes related to the disappearance of ice) than those near the equator (Arrhenius, 1896). This "polar amplification", or increased warming at higher latitudes is clear in observations and climate models and has important implications for Connecticut. Another expectation from Greenhouse Theory is that changes in nighttime temperatures should be more apparent than those of daytime. During the day incoming sunlight (shortwave radiation) is dominant and can mask the smaller changes in heating (IR) due to greenhouse gases. At night IR cooling to space is dominant, and thus the effect of greenhouse gases to reduce Earth's heat loss, and redirect heat to warm the surface, leading to greater nighttime warming.

¹ For further reading see Henson, R. (2019) *The Thinking Person's Guide to Climate Change*, AMS, pp. 576.

Review of prior research for the Northeast

Because there are no recent studies that have examined observations for the state of Connecticut, we review results from U.S. National Assessments and peer-reviewed journal articles focusing on the Northeast. The published literature indicates observed temperatures across the Northeast have increased during the 20th century. Prior analyses have also suggested continued accelerated warming through the 21st century in the case of higher greenhouse gas emissions, with the Northeast responding more rapidly than temperatures across the U.S.

Analysis of observed mean temperature changes and trends for the Northeast region, defined as the New England states, New York and the mid-Atlantic including West Virginia, indicate that annual average temperature has increased by +1.43°F, with the annual average maximum temperature increase of +1.16°F and annual average minimum temperature increase of +1.70°F (Vose et al., 2017), where computed changes are the difference between the average for a recent period (1986–2016) and the average for the first half of the last century (1901–1960). The temperature trend computed for the same region is +0.16°F/decade (over the period 1895-2011, Horton et al., 2014). Another study indicates an observed trend of +0.18°F/decade computed for a smaller Northeast region limited to New England and New York (over the period 1901-2005, Lynch et al., 2016). Seasonally the largest observed temperature trends have been seen in winter, +0.29°F/decade (Lynch et al., 2016). Variations in the magnitude of the observed trends depend on the specifications of the region and time periods analyzed.

Projections of mean temperature for the Northeast region indicate increases of +4.0-5.1°F by mid-century (2036-2065) and 5.3-9.1°F by late century (2071-2100), using 1976-2005 as the reference period and where the values represent lower and higher radiative forcing scenarios (Vose et al., 2017). For the smaller Northeast region and higher (CO₂) forcing scenario (RCP8.5) the projections of mean temperature change are +6.2°F by mid-century, and +10.1°F by late century. Consistent with observations, the largest changes are projected for winter of +11.4°F (Lynch et al., 2016). Further analysis of these climate model projections suggests that the Northeast is the fastest warming region in the contiguous U.S., projected to warm by +5.4°F when global warming reaches +3.6°F (Karmalkar and Bradley, 2017).

3.2 New Analysis of Temperature for Connecticut

Observed Annual and Seasonal Temperatures

Station observations with records beginning in 1895 have been averaged for Connecticut (Fig. 3.1), and show statistically significant trends in annual (+0.3°F/decade) and seasonal temperatures with the largest increase in winter (DJF, +0.4°F/decade). This 120 year record reveals that annual average temperature is currently near 50°F and has already increased from 47°F at the start of the 20th century. Winter temperatures averaged near 26°F at that time, well below freezing, and are now almost 30°F.

The observed trends for Connecticut are consistent with, but larger in magnitude than those computed for the Northeast. Station observations from three representative locations in CT (Storrs in northeast, Groton along south coast and Falls Village in northwest) corroborate the statewide results (Fig. A-3.1). Seasonally the observed trends have been largest in winter (DJF), consistent with earlier analysis (Lynch et al., 2016) for the Northeast.

In addition to trends in average temperature for the state, we examine maps of temperature changes (Figure 3.2). Although temperatures exhibit strong seasonality (near 30°F in winter and 70°F in summer), the spatial patterns of temperature (Fig. 3.2, left) are consistent through the year due to topography, coastline and latitude. Temperatures are relatively cooler in the northwest and northeast hills, and warmer in the Connecticut River and Hudson River valleys, with the warmest temperatures along the south coast. Thus, average temperatures are lower moving from south to north, with some added structure resulting from the topographic features in the state. The northwest hills and the northeast hills are cooler than the Connecticut River valley by several degrees.

Observed maps of temperature change (Fig. 3.2, center) shows warming through most of the state. However, for the periods analyzed (1980-2009 minus 1950-1979) significant increases (more than 1°F) have occurred only in the southern half of Connecticut. Statistical significance means that the observed trends are larger than would be expected from random temperature variations alone.

The observed time series (1950-2009) of annual and seasonal temperatures averaged for the state (Fig. 3.2, right) show the observed increase (black), with the models (red: model mean, pink shading: model range) capturing this trend reasonably well.

Projections of Annual and Seasonal Temperatures

The downscaled multi-model projections (2010-2100) indicate unabated and significant increases in annual and seasonal temperatures through the 21st century, with average winter temperatures above freezing (~35°F) by the mid-century and above 40°F by end century (Fig. 3.2f). Average summer temperatures increase to 75°F by mid-century and to near 80°F by end century. Maps depicting projected temperature change from the downscaled multi-model ensemble suggest a pattern with greater warming to the north and west (Fig. 3.3).

Table 3.1. Annual and Seasonal Mean Temperatures Projections for Connecticut. Multi-model ensemble of temperature climatology during the reference period and the changes projected in the RCP8.5 scenario for midcentury and late century, averaged over Connecticut. Units: °F. Data Source: Observed temperature (Livneh); Downscaled model projections for RCP8.5 (MACA, METDATA).

Temperature (°F)	1970-99 Reference	2040-69 Changes	2070-99 Changes
Annual Mean	50.1 ± 1.0	5.1 ± 1.3	8.3 ± 2.0
Winter (DJF)	30.2 ± 2.4	5.2 ± 1.4	8.7 ± 2.3
Spring (MAM)	47.8 ± 1.7	4.4 ± 0.9	7.1 ± 1.3
Summer (JJA)	69.9 ± 1.1	5.5 ± 1.5	8.8 ± 2.4
Fall (SON)	52.8 ± 1.4	5.2 ± 1.6	9.6 ± 2.4

Summary: Average Temperatures

Average temperatures in Connecticut have been rising since 1895 at a rate of $+0.3^{\circ}$ F/decade, with winter (DJF) temperatures increasing faster ($+0.4^{\circ}$ F/decade) than spring (MAM), summer (JJA) and fall (SON), all with observed warming rate of $+0.2^{\circ}$ F/decade (Fig. 3.1). Increasing





temperature trends in annual and seasonal means can also be seen in the gridded observations analyzed here since the 1950's (Fig. 3.2, right).

Temperature projections indicate +5 to +8°F warming by mid and late century respectively. These projections are statistically significant and larger than observed changes since the 1950's (~+1°F annual mean) and also since 1895 (~+3°F). While observed temperature



Figure 3.2. Annual and Seasonal Mean Temperature. Observed annual and seasonal mean temperatures (°F) and changes: [Left] observed annual (a) and seasonal (d,g,j,m) average temperature for the 1970-1999 reference period, [Middle] observed change in annual (b) and seasonal (e,h,k,n) average temperature (later – earlier: 1980-2009 minus 1950-1979), and [Right] observed (black) and model projected (red) time series of annual (c) and seasonal (f,i,l,o) average temperature for the state. Pink shading indicates the range (maximum and minimum) within the model projections from eight climate models for 1970-2099. Data Source: Observed temperature (Livneh); Downscaled model projections for RCP8.5 (MACA, METDATA). Black hatching indicates changes that are not significant.

increases have been largest in winter (Fig. 3.1), projections suggest that by mid-century the largest warming will be in summer (JJA, $+6^{\circ}F$) and by late-century the largest increase will be in fall (SON, $+10^{\circ}F$) (Table 3.1). The greater summer and fall temperature increases are likely related to the surface drying that results from higher evapotranspiration rates in the absence of increases in precipitation (see Section 4).

The patterns of recent change are quite different from patterns of projected changes. The observed changes reveal more warming along the south coast and in the eastern half of the



Figure 3.3. Projections of Annual and Seasonal Mean Temperature. Mulit-model mean computed from eight climate model simulations of annual and seasonal mean temperatures (°F): [Left] Bias corrected annual (a) and seasonal (d,g,j,m) average temperature for the 1970-1999 reference period, [Middle] projected annual (b) and seasonal (e,h,k,n) changes by mid-century (2040-2069 minus 1970-1999), and [Right] projected annual (c) and seasonal (f,i,l,o) changes by late-century (2070-2099 minus 1970-1999). Data Source: Downscaled model projections for RCP8.5 (MACA, METDATA).

state (Fig. 3.2, center), while projections suggest very little spatial structure with nearly uniform warming and increase towards the north and west (Fig. 3.3, center and right). At the spatial scale for the state of Connecticut, there are many local factors that affect temperature patterns. Global climate models do not incorporate local-level details, and even the downscaling methods cannot compensate for this.

3.3 Daily Temperature Extremes in the Northeast U.S.

Review of prior research for the Northeast

As global mean temperature increases, the statistics of a distribution of daily temperatures would indicate that thresholds specifying moderate extremes (see Sidebox 3.1) would occur with greater frequency. This is the expectation in a warming climate where both the amount and rate of warming depend on greenhouse gas emissions. In addition, continents warm faster than oceans, thus daily temperature extremes on land are projected to warm faster than global annual mean temperature.

A number of indices that measure daily temperature extremes have been analyzed at the global and national scale. Globally the number of cold days and cold nights have decreased and the number of warm days and nights have increased since 1950 (Cutter et al., 2012). The frequency of heat waves has increased since the middle of the 20th century and more high temperature records have been exceeded than low temperature records. Models project substantial warming in temperature extremes by the end of the 21st century with higher CO₂ scenarios resulting in larger changes. The frequency and magnitude of warm days and nights and decreases in the cold days and nights is expected to occur through the 21st century at the global scale, and the length, frequency, and/or intensity of heat waves increase over most land areas (Cutter et al., 2012).

Studies focussed on the Northeast show a clear warming in the coldest (+2.83°F) day of the year, the warmest day of the year has cooled slightly (-.92°F) since the baseline includes the extreme heat seen in the 1930's (Vose et al., 2017). Increasing temperatures have resulted in a longer average frost free season by more than 10 days (Walsh et al., 2014, NCA). These results are consistent with two recent studies that have examined observed changes in extremes. Brown et al. (2010) analyzed temperature indices using station data from the New England states plus New York and Pennsylvania beginning in 1895. Thibeault and Seth (2014) examine temperature extreme indices for most of New England and a bit of New York since 1950. The two studies specify different regions and time periods but find consistent results. For example, both find that temperature indices based on daily minimum temperatures show substantial trends, while indices based on daily maximum temperatures show mixed changes in recent observed period.

Analysis of projected changes in temperature extremes by mid-century show warming of the coldest (+9.51°F) and warmest (+6.51°F) day of year and coldest 5-day, 1 in 10 year event (+15.93°F) and warmest 5-day, 1 in 10 year event (+12.88°F) for the Northeast (Vose et al., 2017). Changes are the difference between the average for mid-century (2036–2065) and the average for near-present (1976–2005) under RCP8.5 and derived from 32 climate models that were statistically downscaled using the Localized Constructed Analogs (LOCA) technique. These projections are consistent with recent studies focused on the Northeast, e.g., Ning et al. (2015) and Thibeault and Seth (2014).

Daily temperature indices for Connecticut

The new analysis presented in this report specifies a region relevant for planning in Connecticut. We compare the new CT results with those referenced above for the Northeast. We evaluate temperature indices suggested by the Expert Team on Climate Change Detection and Indices (ETCCDI) (Peterson et al., 2005). Ten indices (Table 3.2), based on daily maximum or minimum temperature values, are presented in this report. Some are based on fixed thresholds that are of relevance to particular applications and are the same for all locations. Other indices are based on thresholds that vary from location to location and are typically defined as a percentile of the relevant data series. All 10 indices are computed annually using the RClimDex software developed by ETCCDI. They can be considered in five groups:

Temperature Indices examine maximum and minimum temperatures (°F), where TXX is the warmest day of the year and TNN is the coldest night of the year.

Daytime Heat Indices count the number of days in a year that meet a threshold and include summer days (SU), and the number of days associated with warm spells (WSDI) which include extreme heat waves that pose dangerous health risks as well as periods of unusual warmth.

Nighttime Heat Indices that measure the number of days in a year that meet a threshold for warmth at night are tropical nights (TR), and the length of the growing season (GSL).

Daytime Cold Indices examine thresholds for daytime cold temperatures, including ice days (ID), and the number of days associated with cold spells (CSDI).

Nighttime Cold Indices examine nighttime cold temperatures including frost days (FD). The daily range in temperature (DTR) depends on both night time and daytime temperatures.

Table 3.2. Temperature Indices Computed for Connecticut. Definitions of 10 temperature indices
presented in this study (Peterson, et al., 2005). All the indices are calculated with RClimDex on an annual
basis using daily maximum temperature (TX), daily minimum temperature (TN).

Index	Index name	Definitions	Units
Tempera	ature Indices (daily	maximum and minimum)	
TXX	TXX Warmest day Annual maximum value of daily maximum temp		°F
TNN	Coldest night	Annual minimum value of daily minimum temp	
Daytime Heat Indices			
SU	J Summer days Annual count when TX (daily maximum) >25°C (77°F)		Days
WSDIWarm spellsAnnual count of warm spell days, where a warm spell is 6 or more consecutive days with TX>90th percentile		Days	
Nightime Heat Indices			
TR	Tropical nights	Annual count when TN (daily minimum) >20°C (68°F)	

GSL	Growing season length TG>5°C (41°F) and first span of at least 6 days with TG<5°C		Days
Daytime	e Cold Indices		
ID	Ice days	Annual count when TX (daily maximum) <0°C (32°F)	Days
CSDI	Cold spells	Annual count of cold spell days, where a cold spell is 6 or more consecutive days with TN<10th percentile	Days
Nightime Cold Indices			
FD	Frost days Annual count when TN (daily minimum) <0°C (32°F)		Days
DTR Daily range of temperature		Annual mean difference between TX and TN	

Sidebox 3.1: How do we see changes in Extremes? Temperatures in a region tend to be

characterized by a normal (bell curve) distribution, where most observations fall within a range near the mean and progressively fewer occurrences in the tails of the distribution. Thresholds for hot or cold values near the tails define extreme values. A changing climate shifts temperature distributions and can affect the mean (peak), the variance (width) and its overall shape (see Figure SB3.1). Given current societal and ecological thresholds for extreme temperatures, shifts in the distribution of temperatures can result in increased frequency of temperatures in the extreme range and possibly both tails (hot and cold) if the variance also increases. Beyond daily extremes, the accumulation of heat or cold over time and across a region, and/or the combined effects of temperature/rainfall or temperature/ humidity that are not necessarily extreme independently can result in unprecedented weather and climate events. Natural variability will continue to be an important factor in shaping future extremes in addition to the effect of anthropogenic changes in climate.



Figure SB3.1. How Extremes Are Influenced by Changes in the Distribution of **Temperature.** Different changes in temperature distributions between present and future climate and their effects on extreme values of the distributions: (a) effects of a simple shift of the entire distribution toward a warmer climate; (b) effects of an increase in temperature variability with no shift in the mean. Both types of changes are expected to increase the frequency of extreme weather events. [Figure SPM.3 IPCC SREX, 2012.]

3.4 New Analysis of Daily Temperature Extremes for Connecticut

Daily Temperature Indices

The warmest day of the year (TXX) for the recent period (Fig. 3.4a, black and Fig 3.4c), ranges from the upper 80s (°F) to the upper 90s (°F) across the state with the warmest temperatures in the Connecticut River valley and lower values in the western hills and along the southeast coast. Temperatures during the warmest day of the year show statistically significant increases (+2.5°F) through the southern half of the state. The coldest night (TNN) for the recent period is colder in the western and eastern hills and less cold in the Connecticut River valley (Fig. A-3.2b,e). This coldest night index also shows warming with changes between +3-6°F since the 1950s (Fig. A-3.2d); however these changes do not yet meet the threshold for significance.



Figure 3.4. Warmest and Coldest Day of the Year. Time series of the annual warmest day (a) and coldest night (b) temperatures (^oF, TXX, TNN) with observations (black) and models (multi-model mean, red; model range pink shading). Model simulated and projected mid- and late- century changes in the warmest day (c,d,e) and coldest night (f,g,h) temperatures. Data Source: Observed temperature (Livneh); Downscaled model projections for RCP8.5 (MACA, METDATA).

The projections are consistent with the observed increases in TXX and TNN, and show significant increases that continue through the coming century, with the warmest day of the year consistently in the upper 90s (°F) (+5-7°F) by mid-century and well above 100°F (+10-13°F) by 2100 (Fig3.4d,e). The coldest night warms even more, from below 0°F to ~ 15°F (Fig3.4b). The projections indicate the greatest warming for both of these indices is inland (rather than along the coast) (Fig3.4g,h).

Projections of Heat Risk

Summer days (T>74°F, SU) over recent decades average 80-100 days in the Connecticut and Hudson River valleys (compared to 50-80 days in the northwest and northeast hills (Fig. 3.5a,c). Summer days have increased in the state with statistically significant increases (5-10 days) in the southwestern region (Fig. A-3.3b,e). The observed pattern of warm spell days (WSDI) indicate that they are relatively infrequent (Fig. 3.5b,f). Since 1950 there has been a hint



Figure 3.5. Daytime Heat: Summer Days and Warm Spells. Time series of the number of summer days (a) and warm spell days (b) (SU, WSDI) with observations (black) and models (multi-model mean, red; model range pink shading). Model simulated and projected mid- and late- century changes in summer days (c,d,e) and warm spell days (f,g,h). Data Source: Observed temperature (Livneh); Downscaled model projections for RCP8.5 (MACA. METDATA).

of increase through most of the state (Fig. A-3.3b) with no statistically significant changes between the two periods analysed.

Projected changes in these two annual indices show significant increases in the coming century (Fig. 3.5a,b). Summer days (SU) increase from a value of ~80 days (in the 1950s) to nearly 115 days in mid-century (+35 days), to more than 140 days (+60 days) in 2100. Similarly, the days associated with warm spells (WSDI) increases from less than 3 per year in the 1950s to ~50 per year by 2050 and more than 120 per year by 2100. It is notable that the increase in summer days is higher in the northwest and northeast hills (+65 days) (Fig. 3.5e).

Tropical nights (TR) in the 20th century occur on average 1-2 weeks/year in the Connecticut and Hudson River valleys (3-12 days) and less than 1 week in the northwest and northeast hills (0-6 days) (Fig. 3.6a,c). Tropical nights have increased with statistically significant increase in counts of TR (+4 to 12 days) along the southern coast (Fig. A-3.4b,e). The observed pattern of



Figure 3.6. Nightime Heat: Tropical Nights and Length of Growing Season. Time series of the number of tropical nights (a) and growing season length (b) (TR, GSL) with observations (black) and models (multi-model mean, red; model range pink shading). Model simulated and projected mid- and late- century changes in tropical nights (c,d,e) and growing season length (f,g,h). Data Source: Observed temperature (Livneh); Downscaled model projections for RCP8.5 (MACA, METDATA).

the length of the growing season (GSL) indicates that it is generally longer in lower elevations and latitudes of the state (~240-260 days) and shorter in higher elevations and in the northern areas (~220 days or less) (Fig. 3.6f). Since 1950 there have been statistically significant increases (10-20 days) in the length of the growing season through most of the state except for the Litchfield hills (Fig. A-3.4d,f).

The time series of nighttime annual indices show substantial and significant increases in the coming century (Fig. 3.6d,e,g,h). Tropical nights (TR) increase from less than 10 days (1950s) to nearly 45 days in mid-century (+35 days), to more than 70 days (+60 days) in 2100. Similarly, the length of the growing season (GSL) increases from ~240 days in the 1950s to ~275 days (+35 days) by 2050 and more than 300 days (+60 days) by 2100. The increase in tropical nights is lower in the northwest and northeast hills (+30-45 days) than to the south, near the coast (+ 60 to 70 days) (Fig. 3.6e).



Figure 3.7. Daytime Cold: Ice Days and Cold Spells. Time series of the number of ice days (a) and cold spell days (b) (ID, CSDI) with observations (black) and models (multi-model mean, red; model range pink shading). Model simulated and projected mid- and late- century changes in ice days (c,d,e) and cold spell days (f,g,h). Data Source: Observed temperature (Livneh); Downscaled model projections for RCP8.5 (MACA. METDATA).

Projections of Cold Risk

Observed ice days (ID) show relatively fewer in the Connecticut and Hudson River valleys and along the south coast (less than 30 days) and more in the northwest and northeast hills (30 to 50 days/yr) (Fig. 3.7a,c). Changes in the number of ice days are not statistically significant although difference maps do indicate small decreases (-3 to -6 days) (Fig.A-3.5b,e). The observed pattern indicates that days associated with cold spells (CSDI) occur more often in the northern areas of the state (up to 5 per year) and are less frequent in the south central region (1 per year or fewer) (Fig. 3.7f). Since 1950 there has been a decrease, though not significant, in the number of cold spell days (Fig. A-3.5d,f).

The time series of these two indices show substantial and significant decreases in their occurrence in the coming century. The number of Ice days (ID) decrease from ~25 days (in the 1950s) to fewer than 10 days in mid-century (-15 days), and by 2100 there are ~5 or fewer ID days/yr (-20 days) (Fig. 3.7a). Similarly, the number of cold spell days (CSDI) decreases from



Figure 3.8. Nighttime Cold: Frost Days and Diurnal Temperature Range. Time series of the number of frost days (a) and diurnal temperature range (b) (FD, DTR) with observations (black) and models (multi-model mean, red; model range pink shading). Model simulated and projected mid- and late- century changes in frost days (c,d,e) and diurnal temperature range (f,g,h). Data Source: Observed temperature (Livneh); Downscaled model projections for RCP8.5 (MACA, METDATA).

more than ~4 per year in the 1950s to fewer than 1 per year by 2050 and zero by 2100 (Fig. 3.7b). The larger decreases in ice days in the northwest and northeast hills (-20 to -30 days/yr) is related to the fact that there are more in these regions in the present climate (Fig. 3.7d,e).

Frost days (FD) occur more often in the northwest and northeast hills of Connecticut (140-180 days) than in the lower Connecticut River valley and along the south coast (less than 125 days) (Fig. 3.8a,c). Frost days have decreased in most of the state with statically significant decrease (-13 to 26 days/yr, Fig. A-3.6b,e). The difference between daytime and nighttime temperatures (DTR) indicates that it is generally smaller in lower elevations and lower latitudes of the state (~18°F) and larger in higher elevations and in the northern areas (~24°F) (Fig. 3.8f). Since 1950 there has been a statistically significant decrease (-2°F) in DTR in the eastern half of the state (Fig. A-3.6d,f).

The time series of frost days (FD) show significant decreases in the coming century (Fig. 3.8a). Frost days decrease from 140 days (in the 1950s) to ~80 days in mid-century (-60 days), and ~50 days/yr (-90 days) in 2100. The greatest decreases in number of frost days occur in the river valley and south coast (Fig. 3.8d,e). The diurnal temperature range (DTR) shows relatively small declines by 2100 with some disagreement among the models towards the end of the century (Fig. 3.8g,h).

Table 3.3. Temperature Indices Projections for Connecticut. Multi-model ensemble of temperature extreme indices during the reference period and the projected changes for mid-century and late-century (mean ± standard deviation computed across eight models), spatially averaged over Connecticut. Units: days (unless specified otherwise).

Variables	1970-99 Reference	2040-69 Changes	2070-99 Changes
TXX (° <i>F</i>)	93.3 ± 2.8	6.5 ± 1.4	10.5 ± 2.9
TNN (° <i>F</i>)	-4.7 ± 4.9	7.9 ± 1.2	14.2 ± 3.0
SU (days)	80.6 ± 8.7	36.5 ± 9.4	54.2 ± 13.7
WSDI (days)	3.5 ± 4.7	44.2 ± 22.9	97.0 ± 44.3
TR (days)	9.6 ± 4.7	32.0 ± 10.6	57.0 ± 16.6
GSL (days)	246.7 ± 18.4	35.1 ± 12.5	62.3 ± 18.2
ID (days)	22.8 ± 8.4	-10.2 ± 1.8	-14.1 ± 2.2
CSDI (days)	0.9 ± 1.9	-1.0 ± 0.5	-1.1 ± 0.6
FD (days)	124.0 ± 10.5	-39.2 ± 10.3	-63.5 ± 13.5
DTR (<i>°F</i>)	19.6 ± 0.6	-0.2 ± 0.2	-0.4 ± 0.5

Summary: Temperature Extremes

The observed and expected changes in temperature related extreme indicies are all consistent within the context of a warming planet, with increasing mean temperatures.

In Connecticut, both the warmest day and warmest night of the year have increased in temperature since the 1950s (Fig 3.4). Daytime warm indices (summer days, and warm spells) have shown statistically significant increases (Fig 3.5) as have nighttime warm indices (tropical nights, growing season length, Fig 3.6). At the same time indices that measure cold extremes, such as ice days, cold spells, and frost days have been declining, as expected (Fig 3.7 and 3.8). The level of significance in the observed changes varies spatially and by index, with tropical nights, growing season length, summer days and frost days showing significant changes across large regions of the state.

Projections indicate significant changes across the state with continued trends that are consistent with increasing temperatures in all of the temperature extreme indices presented. Tropical nights (TR: Tmin>68°F) are projected to increase from 10 days to more than 40 days at mid-century and nearly 70days in late century. Although humidity is not analyzed here, it is worth noting that tropical nights are normally associated with high humidity. Currently, ~4 days/ year are associated with warm spells (WSDI: 6 consecutive days with Tmax > 90%), meaning less than one per year on average. The projections suggest 48 days by mid-century and more than 100 by late century.

Changes accelerate through the coming century (Figs 3.7e to 3.11e) based on the higher radiative forcing scenario (RCP8.5) that assumes continued increasing emissions of CO2 (see Sidebar 2.2 on Uncertainties in Climate Projections). Reducing emissions globally would substantially mitigate changes after mid-century

4. Precipitation Changes in Connecticut

4.1 Precipitation in the Northeast U.S.

Precipitation in Connecticut shows a clear pattern of topographic influence, ranging from less than 45 inches per year in the Connecticut River valley to over 52 inches in the elevated hill regions (Figure 4.1, 30-year average climatology, 1970-1999). The seasonality of precipitation in the state is guite weak, with similar amount of precipitation in spring, summer, and fall seasons and slightly less in winter. The year-to-year variability of precipitation in Connecticut is strong; averaged over the state, annual precipitation ranges from less than 40 inches (reaching as low as 30 inches in 1965) to over 65 inches (in 2011) (Figure 4.1). Similar to the rest of the Northeast, in the 1960s Connecticut experienced the most severe drought in recent history with record-setting low precipitation for several years in a row. Based on the 20th century climate statistics, the low precipitation of 1965 in Connecticut has a return period of approximately 125 years, and extremely low precipitation for several years in a row (as in the 1960s) is a much rarer occurrence. Moreover, due to the large magnitude of inter-annual variability, the detection time for a statistically significant change in precipitation is very long, often much longer than the available record of high-quality observational data (Ziegler et al., 2005). It is especially difficult to quantify observed precipitation trends since 1950 in Connecticut (and in the Northeast in general) due to the 1960s drought that makes the results extremely sensitive to whether the beginning of the study period is before or after the 1960s.

Literature Review of Average Precipitation

Based on data from meteorological stations (1950-2006), Hodgkins and Dudley (2011) found an increase of summer precipitation in most of New England (including four in CT), and the increase at many stations in Western New England (including two in CT) is larger than 20%.

Sidebox 4.1: Why is precipitation changing?

Increasing greenhouse gas radiative forcing and the resulting warming are expected to cause changes in precipitation characteristics, including increases in global average precipitation and precipitation intensity particularly during extreme events (Trenberth, 1999). The primary source of atmospheric water vapor is evaporation from the global oceans; continental evapotranspiration can also be important in regions where there is sufficient surface moisture. At the global scale, precipitation must balance evapotranspiration, and the energy limit on evaporation dictates an increase of approximately 2% per degree (Celsius) of warming. Precipitation intensity during extreme events is proportional to the moisture holding capacity of the atmosphere, which increases at approximately 7% per degree (Celsius) of warming according to the relationship between saturation specific humidity and temperature (known as the Clausius-Clapeyron relationship). The disparity between these two rates of increase (2% vs. 7%) suggests that while precipitation intensity increases, its frequency would decrease. Thus, dry spells between precipitating events would lengthen. Moreover, due to the increased intensity of precipitation, a higher fraction of precipitation would run off in surface flows (Parr et al., 2014) and less would be retained in the soil. These, together with the temperatureinduced acceleration of evapotranspiration, are expected to increase both flooding risks and drought risks.

Most other studies have averaged station data over the Northeast, especially in the regional and national climate assessments. For example, Kunkel et al. (2013) documented a statistically significant increase in annual precipitation over the Northeast (+0.39 in/decade during 1895-2011), mostly attributed to a statistically significant increase in fall season precipitation



Figure 4.1 Annual and seasonal precipitation and changes, based on gridded observational data. Precipitation in the period 1970-1999 (left), change in precipitation for 1980-2009 minus 1950-1979 (middle) and time series of state averages (right). The rows present annual average (a-c), winter – DJF (d-f), spring – MAM (g-i), summer – JJA (j-I), and fall – SON (m-o). Based on the Livneh et al. data, with METDATA (green lines) for comparison. Black hatching indicates changes that are not significant.
(+0.24 in/decade). Walsh et al. (2014) found that relative to the 1901-1960 climatology, precipitation during 1991-2012 has increased by 8% in the Northeast. Easterling et al. (2017) extended the analysis to include data from more recent years, and showed that annual precipitation during 1986-2015 increased by 5-15% over most of the Northeast relative to the 1901-1960 climatology, and the largest increase was found for the fall season (+15% over most of the region). The aforementioned studies differed in the periods of analysis, and the differences among results was typically the season that contributed the most to the observed increase of annual precipitation.

Climate models project a generally wetter future for Connecticut and for the Northeast, which is consistent with theoretical expectations for increased precipitation in a warmer world. However, the projected precipitation changes for the future do not follow the seasonality of past observed changes. A regional climate model in Anderson et al. (2010) projected summer precipitation to decrease across much of the central Northeast (but increase over the southernmost and northernmost portions). Based on CMIP3 models (high CO₂ scenario), Kunkel et al. (2013) found that, relative to the last three decades of the 20th century, annual precipitation may increase by 5-6% in CT by the mid-century (2041-70), with most of the increase from winter-spring seasons and some decrease in summer. Based on output from CMIP5 models (RCP8.5), Walsh et al. (2014) and Easterling et al. (2017) found that by the end of the 21st century precipitation amount in the Northeast during winter and spring would increase significantly (by 10-30%) with a high degree of model consensus; projected changes in summer and fall seasons were either statistically not significant or inconclusive due to the lack of model consensus. Similarly, based on the CMIP5 GCMs, Lynch et al. (2016) also found a strong seasonality of precipitation changes with a peak increase in late winter-early spring (February-April). These studies consistently identified winter-spring as the seasons of strongest future increase of precipitation, while observed precipitation changes since 1950 were dominated by an increase during the fall season (see also Fig. 4.1).

4.2 New Analysis of Precipitation for Connecticut

Observations and projections of annual and seasonal precipitation

Despite differences in day-to-day variation of precipitation, the two gridded datasets (MACA and Livneh et al., see Section 2.3 for details) agree well on precipitation amount accumulated over five days or longer (Figure 4.1). We therefore use the Livneh et al. (2015) data, which offers a longer record (1950-2013), to analyze past changes of seasonal and annual precipitation in Connecticut.

The shaded plots in Figure 4.1 show the 30-year (1970-99) average of annual and seasonal precipitation, and the changes from the 1st 30 years (1950-79) to the 2nd 30 years (1980-2009) of the data record. Over most of the state, annual precipitation increased significantly, by more than 2 inches, due primarily to increases in summer precipitation. Summer precipitation increased significantly over the entire state, with the absolute change exceeding 1.5 inches over most area, a relative change of 10-20%. During 1950-2013 and averaged over the state (line plots in Figure 4.1), summer precipitation increased at a rate of 0.58 in/decade and annual precipitation but the changes were not statistically significant over most of the state. During winter, most of Connecticut experienced a decrease of precipitation, although the trend was not statistically significant. The seasonality of precipitation changes is not unique to Connecticut and is in fact similar in most of New England. These results agree well with



Figure 4.2 Observed annual and seasonal mean precipitation averaged for Connecticut. Linear trend computed for 1985-2017, with data from NCDC.

findings from the station-based study of Hodgkins and Dudley (2011) in identifying summer as the season of most significant changes. It is important to note that both our study and Hodgkins and Dudley (2011) use data from 1950 onward.



Figure 4.3 Spatial pattern of annual and seasonal precipitation. Climate model simulation for the reference period 1970-1999 (a,d,g,j,m), and projected changes in mid-century (b,e,h,k,n) and late-century (c,f,i,l,o), all in inches. Black hatching indicates changes that are not significant.

In contrast, studies based on data dated back to 1901 or earlier (especially the regional and national assessments, e.g., Easterling et al., 2017) found that the largest precipitation increases occurred in the fall season. Relative to the studies using pre-1950 data, the rate of annual and seasonal precipitation increases found in our analysis is greater due to the inclusion of the 1960s' mega drought in the early portion of our data record. As a comparison, Figure 4.2



Figure 4.4 Precipitation time series. Observed (black) and climate model simulated (green) precipitation (inches).

shows the time series of precipitation averaged among multiple meteorological stations within Connecticut (NOAA NCDC climate divisional data) over the period 1895-2015, which shows an annual trend of 0.17 in/decade, and the strongest increasing trend in the fall season at 0.16 in/ decade.

Based on the downscaled 4-km MACA2-METDATA, the annual and seasonal precipitation climatology derived from the 8-model ensemble mean for the period 1970-99 (left column, Figure 4.3) closely resembles observation (Figure 4.1). This is expected due to the use of bias correction in the MACA methodology. With rare exceptions, the state average of observed precipitation from the reference data is enveloped by the model spread (Figure 4.4). Note that the multi-model ensemble mean has a much smaller year-to-year variability than the observation. This is expected as the anomalies associated with the internal variability from different models compensate each other.

Table 4.1. Annual and seasonal average precipitation and projected changes for Connecticut. Multi-model ensemble of precipitation climatology during the reference period and the projected changes for midcentury and late century, averaged over Connecticut. The ensemble is presented as multi-model mean plus/minus inter-model standard deviation. Units: inches. Percentage values in parenthesis are relative changes. "*N/A*" indicates lack of model consensus regarding the direction of changes or statistically the projected changes are not significant.

Variables	1970-99 Reference	2040-69 Changes	2070-99 Changes
Annual Total	50.9±0.7	4.3±2.3 (8.5%)	4.9±3.3 (9.7%)
Winter (DJF)	11.1±0.3	1.5±1.2 (13.4%)	1.8±1.2 (16.3%)
Spring (MAM)	13.1±0.3	1.3±0.9 (10%)	2.2±0.5 (16.5%)
Summer (JJA)	13.0±0.5	1.0±0.7 (7.6%)	N/A
Fall (SON)	13.6±0.4	N/A	N/A

As temperature continues to warm in the future (RCP8.5), the annual total precipitation in CT is projected to increase by 4-5 inches (approximately 8.5%) by the midcentury (2040-2069) and by 4.5-5.5 inches (approximately 10%) by the late century (2070-2099) (Figure 4.3). These increases are due primarily to increases of precipitation in the winter and spring seasons in our analysis, similar to previous studies (e.g., Walsh et al., 2014; Lynch et al., 2016; Easterling et al., 2017). By midcentury averaged over the state, the increase of precipitation is projected to be approximately 1.5 inches (13.4%) for winter and 1.3 inches (10%) for spring; by the late century, these increases are 1.8 inches (16.3%) and 2.2 inches (16.5%) (Table 4.1). Across the state, all these increases (in the winter, spring, and annual precipitation) are projected with model consensus and are statistically significant. The spatial pattern of projected changes reflects an impact from topography, with stronger increases over high altitude than valleys. Projected mid-century changes during summer and fall seasons are either statistically insignificant due to the small magnitude or inconclusive due to the lack of model consensus on the direction of the change (Figure 4.4).

Summary: Average Precipitation

For the winter, spring, and annual totals, there is a clear increasing trend throughout the period of 1970-2099 not only in the multi-model ensemble mean but also in the minimum and maximum among the individual models (Figure 4.4). For the summer season, an increasing trend is evident in the early portion of the period followed by a leveling off after 2040. For the fall season, neither the ensemble mean nor the minimum and maximum among the individual models shows any clear trend. Clearly, there is a contrast in the seasonality of past observed and future projected changes of precipitation. Based on previous studies and our new analysis, strongest changes of precipitation were observed during either summer or fall in the past, and are projected to occur during winter and spring in the future. Understanding this contrast is beyond the scope of this assessment and will be the topic of follow-up research.

4.3 Daily Precipitation Extremes in the Northeast U.S.

Definition of Extreme Precipitation Indices

To quantify precipitation extremes, the World Meteorological Organisation (WMO) Commission for Climatology (CCI)/Climate Variability (CLIVAR) Working Group on Climate Change Detection proposed five extreme precipitation indicators (Frich et al., 2002): 1) the maximum number of consecutive dry days in each year (CDD), 2) the number of days with precipitation more than 10 mm (R10), 3) the simple intensity index (SII), 4) the maximum 5-d precipitation total of the vear (R5d), and 5) the fraction of the annual total greater than or equal to the daily 95th percentile (R95T). Similar considerations have led to the expansion of extreme indicators such as those recommended by the Expert Team on Climate Change Detection and Indices (ETCCDI, Zhang et al., 2011), including among others maximum 1-day precipitation and annual total precipitation due to events exceeding 99th percentile of daily precipitation. These indicators are defined for each year and have been widely used to assess GHG-induced climate changes (e.g., Ahmed et al., 2013; Thibeault and Seth, 2014), see Table 4.2. In addition to these commonly used indices, we have added the size of rare events (in the form of 1-in-Nyears, with N being the "return period" or recurrence interval) as well as the future return period of the past 1-in-N-years events, as they are highly relevant indicators of climate extremes (Kharin et al., 2007; 2013) for the development of climate adaptation strategies (e.g., revising infrastructure design criteria).

Index	Index name	Definitions	Units
Drought Risk			
CDD	Dry Days	Maximum number of consecutive dry days for JJA	Days
SII	Simple Intensity	Simple intensity index (average precipitation/wet day)	Inches/ Day
aPE	Annual P-PET	Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, annual	Inches
sPE	Summer P-PET	Precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration, JJA	Inches

 Table 4.2 Precipitation indices examined for Connecticut.
 Indices computed to examine drought

 risk, flood risk, present climate return periods and future changes in return periods for Connecticut.
 Indices computed to examine drought

N_wet	Wet Days	Annual count of wet days, Prec > .04 inches	
Flood Risk			
N_1inch	Rain Days	Annual count when daily Prec >1 inch	Days
N99	Heavy Rain Days	Annual count of days with precipitation > 99th percentile	Days
F99	Heavy Rain Fraction	Fraction of annual precipitation accounted for by N99	%
R1d	Max 1day Rain	Maximum daily precipitation	Inches
R5d	Max 5day Rain	Maximum consecutive 5-day precipitation	Inches
Return Periods			
X_10 X_20 X_50 X_100	Any index	Present climate extreme value of index with return period of 10, 20, 50, and 100 years respectively defined for various precipitation indicators X such as R1d, R5d, and low tail of aPE (annual P-PET) and sPE (summer P-PET)	See index units above
T_X_10 T_X_20 T_X_50 T_X_100	Any index	Future return period of the X_10, X_20, X_50, X_100 for precipitation index X including R1d, R5d, aPE, and sPE	Years

Literature Review of Precipitation Extremes

While precipitation response to greenhouse warming has been predicted by theory and numerical models decades ago (Trenberth, 1999), robust observational evidence, as expected, has only recently emerged for precipitation extremes (Fischer and Knutti, 2016). Accurate definition and assessment of extreme events requires long-term observational data. This requirement is difficult to meet for precipitation extremes because they often take place at small spatial and temporal scales, from hourly to daily over several kilometers in space, scales at which long-term observational data is scarce. For example, based on station data, Agel et al. (2015) found that most extreme precipitation in the Northeast occurs on a single day with three hours or less accounting for approximately 50% of daily accumulation. In addition to the lack of sufficiently long data record at the fine spatial and temporal resolutions, the 1960s drought makes results of any trend assessment extremely sensitive to the inclusion of that period. For these reasons it is challenging to assess trends in extreme precipitation events in Connecticut.

In the regional and national climate assessments (e.g., Easterling et al., 2014), station-level precipitation data were often gridded and then aggregated to regional level to analyze past changes. For the Northeast, both the intensity and frequency of heavy precipitation events were found to have increased, the greatest increase found in any region of the U.S. (Easterling et al., 2014). Kunkel et al. (2013) documented an increasing frequency of extreme precipitation events, but the trend is statistically not significant over the whole period of 1895-2011 and shows substantial decadal variability, with most of the increase occurring during more recent

decades. For example, extreme events with a return period of 50 and 100 years based on the climate of 1950-79 occurs every 30 and 60 years, respectively, during the more recent period of 1978-2007. Thibeault and Seth (2014) assessed nine precipitation indices (for both precipitation amount and intensity) for the Northeast and found all of the wet indices experienced a statistically significant increasing trend over the period 1951-2010. In the 3rd National Climate Assessment, Walsh et al. (2014) showed a 71% increase in the amount of precipitation falling during the heaviest 1% of all daily events over the Northeast from 1958 to 2012. Extending the analysis to include more recent data in the 4th National Climate Assessment, Easterling et al. (2017) documented similar substantial increase of both extreme precipitation intensity and frequency. For intensity, the daily 20-year return level precipitation increased by 0.08-0.25 inches (depending on season) during 1948-2015, the 5-year maximum daily precipitation increased by 27% during 1901-2016, and the 99th percentile of daily precipitation increased 55% during 1958-2016. For frequency, the number of 2-day precipitation events exceeding 5-year recurrence interval increased by 74% during 1901-2016 and by 92% during 1958-2016.

Studies based on data from individual stations showed that the magnitude and significance of the increase in precipitation amount and intensity differs at state and sub-state scales (Keim and Rock 2002; Groisman et al., 2004, 2005). Griffiths and Bradley (2007) documented an increase of precipitation extremes based on station data in the Northeast during 1926-2000, but no station in CT was included. Brown et al. (2010) evaluated the past trends in precipitation indices during 1893-2005 at 40 stations in the Northeast including three in CT, and found that a very small fraction of the stations show statistically significant trend over the whole period, but most stations show a shift towards wetter and more flood-prone conditions from the first half to the second half of the time period. The consequence of these observed increases in precipitation events has already become detectable with widespread increases in base flow, storm flow, and flood in the Northeast and in Connecticut (Hodgkins and Dudley, 2011; Peterson et al., 2013).

The Northeast is one of the fastest warming regions in the contiguous US (Karmalkar and Bradley, 2017; Wuebbles et al, 2017). As the warming continues in the future, precipitation extremes are projected to further increase, at a rate that is the highest in the nation (Easterling et al., 2017). Results from CMIP5 RCP8.5 projections suggest significant shifts toward warmer and wetter conditions by mid-century (2041-2070), and most precipitation extreme indices are projected to be largely outside their 20th century ranges by the late century (2071-2099) (Thibeault and Seth, 2014). Based on GCM climate projections downscaled to 1/8 degree resolution, Ning et al. (2014) found an increase in both total precipitation and the frequency of extreme precipitation events in the Northeast, with greater increases in coastal areas (including CT) than inland areas.

Globally and on a relative scale, the intensity of precipitation extremes increases faster than the annual mean precipitation (Kharin et al., 2013), meaning more precipitation comes in heavier events. Specifically in the U.S. Northeast region, by the late 21st century (RCP8.5, relative to the late 20th century), the projected increase is 5-10% for annual precipitation and 10-20% for extreme events with a 20-year return period (Kharin et al., 2013). Sillmann et al. (2013b) projected a 5-15% increase for total precipitation amount and 40-70% for the amount falling during heavy precipitation events (defined as days with precipitation exceeding the 95th percentile of the present climate). In the 4th NCA, using LOCA downscaled data Easterling et al. (2017) showed that the projected relative increase of the 1-in-20-years daily extreme precipitation is 13% by mid-century and 22% by late century in the Northeast (RCP8.5).



Figure 4.5 Observed precipitation indices for Connecticut. Indices based on the two gridded estimates of observations, METDATA (green) and Livneh (black).

Recent research for the Northeast suggests the frequency of extreme precipitation events is likely to increase even faster than the intensity. For example, under the SRES A2 scenario by the middle century (2041-2070), the days with precipitation exceeding 1in, 2in, 3in, and 4in would increase respectively by 21%, 41%, 56%, and 65% relative to the end of the 20th

century for the Northeast, with slightly smaller increases in CT (Kunkel et al., 2013). By the late century under RCP8.5, precipitation in the wettest day of the year would increase by 20-30%, and extreme events such as daily precipitation with a return period of 20 years in the present climate would occur 3-4 times as often in the Northeast compared to the late 20th century (Walsh et al. 2014); and the 2-day 5-year extreme precipitation events would occur close to four times as often in the Northeast, the fastest increase of the nation (Janssen et al., 2014).

In summary, based on a survey of previous studies focussed on the Northeast U.S., both spatially averaged analysis and assessment of individual stations document an observed increase in precipitation and the frequency and intensity of heavy precipitation events, which substantiates the theoretical predictions for regional water cycle changes in a warming global climate. Climate model projections provide an overwhelming consensus that these increases of precipitation extreme indicators will continue as the earth further warms in the future. On the other hand, more than 75% of extreme precipitation days in the Northeast are related to extratropical storms except during September when more than 50% of extremes are related to tropical storms (Agel et al., 2015). How the tropical and extratropical storms may have changed in the past (which will be elaborated separately in Section 4.5) and how they may change in the future will help us to better understand the aforementioned changes of extreme precipitation indicators.

4.4 New Analysis of Daily Precipitation Extremes for Connecticut

Due to the fine spatial scale of precipitation extremes, averages over the Northeast examined in previous studies do not provide the spatially distributed information needed by local stakeholders. At the same time station-based assessment lacks sufficient coverage in Connecticut. Moreover, different studies tended to focus on one or two indices of precipitation extremes, which may not suit the information needs of local stakeholders. Here, we estimate the extreme indices described in Section 4.3 based on both the 4-km METDATA data and the 6-km Livneh data. In the Northeast precipitation tends to be more extreme over mountainous regions and along the coast, a spatial pattern resembling annual precipitation (see the maximum daily precipitation and the number of days with more than 1 inch of precipitation in Appendix Figure A-4.1). This general pattern holds in Connecticut but to a lesser extent. The time series of average indices computed for the state are given in Figure 4.5. Despite differences in the day-to-day variation of precipitation (as detailed in Figure A-2.1), for time indices that are cumulative over time including P - PET index and the 5-day maximum precipitation (R5d) the difference between the two datasets is negligible so we assess their trend based on the Livneh et al. data due to its longer record (1950-2013). In contrast, indices that depend on daily statistics of precipitation, differ substantially between the two datasets. Despite its shorter record (1980-2017), the METDATA is used to describe trends for these daily indices due to the better agreement with meteorological station data at the daily time scale. Extreme indices involving the definition of a return period are excluded from this analysis, as the data record (1980-2017) is too short to support the construction of two non-overlapping segments long enough to reliably define a return period of 20 years or longer.

Among the extreme indices examined, drought risks can be assessed based on the maximum consecutive dry days (CDD), the difference between precipitation and potential evapotranspiration (P – PET), and the number of wet days (N_wet) (black lines in Figure 4.5). For most years in Connecticut, CDD occurs during winter, while drought risk is of the greatest concern during summer. For this reason, here we use the summer-season CDD to examine the summer dry spells. The P – PET index reflects potential water availability, and both the annual



Figure 4.6 Observed 1980-2017 trends in the New England region. Precipitation indices include wet days (N_wet), simple intensity index (SII), days with more than 1 inch of precipitation (N_1inch), days with heavy precipitation (exceeding 99th percentile) (N99), fraction of annual precipitation accounted for by heavy events (F99), and maximum daily precipitation (R1d). Black hatching indicates changes that are not significant.

and summer values are relevant. Over the period 1950-2013, both the annual and summer P-PET indices showed a slight increasing trend towards greater water supply (not statistically significant), and summer CDD shows no clear trend. The number of wet days (N_wet) during the period 1980-2017 shows a statistically significant decreasing trend (-7 days/decade), which could cause drier soil conditions. Taken together however, results from multiple indices yielded no conclusive evidence for a clear change of drought risks during recent decades.

Changes in precipitation extremes that are related to flood risks are evaluated here based on SII, N_wet, N_1inch, N99, F99, R1d, and R5d during the period 1980-2017 (green lines in Figure 4.5). SII, which is the average precipitation among wet days, has increased at a statistically significant rate of +0.64 in/day/decade, which is associated with the statistically significant decrease of N_wet (-7 days/decade). Therefore, in general, precipitation frequency has decreased, but the average precipitation amount on each rainy day has increased. Moreover, despite the decrease of wet days, the number of days with very heavy precipitation has increased, and the amount of heavy precipitation has also increased. For example, the

number of days with more than one inch of rain (N_1inch), days with very heavy precipitation (N99, i.e., days with precipitation exceeding the 99th percentile), and the fraction of annual precipitation accounted for by very heavy precipitation (F99) all have increased across the whole state over the period 1980-2017, although statistically these increases are not significant. On average, the annual maximum one-day precipitation (R1d) has increased slightly (and insignificantly) in most of Connecticut, which may indicate an increased risk of flash flood; the maximum 5-day precipitation (R5d), which reflects risks for major extended flood over large watersheds, has increased in west Connecticut and decreased in the east.

The general lack of statistical significance in the increase of flood-related indices in Connecticut differ from the findings of previous studies for the Northeast. For example, Thibeault and Seth (2014) found that all extreme precipitation indices for the Northeast



Figure 4.7 Annual P-PET (aPE) and summer P-PET (sPE). Observed (black) and projected (green) time series (a,b) for Connecticut; Model simulated spatial pattern for the reference period (c,f), projected mid-century changes (d,g) and late century changes (e,h). Brown shading reflects a decrease of potential water availability or an increase of water deficit.

experienced a statistically significant increase during 1951-2010. While the specific dataset and the analysis period play a role, the primary cause for this difference is spatial heterogeneity within the Northeast. Connecticut is an area in the Northeast where the past observed increase of precipitation extremes is weaker than most of the region and not statistically significant (Figure 4.6). With the exception of the R5d, daily precipitation extreme indices averaged over the Northeast (Appendix Figure A-4.2) show a much stronger increasing trend than for Connecticut.



Figure 4.8 Low annual P-PET and low summer P-PET with recurrence interval of 20 years and 100 years (aPE_20, sPE_20, aPE_100, sPE_100, all in inches). Model simulated spatial patterns for the reference period (a,d,g,j), projected mid-century changes (b,e,h,k) and late century changes (c,f,i,l). Brown shading reflects a decrease of potential water availability or an increase of water deficit.

Projections of Drought Risk

Precipitation amount in Connecticut is projected to significantly increase in the future (Section 4.2), which continues the past observed trend. However, the increase of precipitation may not translate to an increase of water availability due to the increase of evapotranspiration caused by higher temperatures. Here we assess P-PET as an indicator of water availability in the future. Based on the multi-model ensemble, the annual P-PET (aPE) and summer P-PET (sPE) indices both show a slight increasing trend up to the early decades of the century (which agrees with observations in recent decades) and decrease afterwards; the decreasing trend (which indicates an increase in drought risk) is especially strong in the summer season (Figure 4.7). By the mid-century, the decrease in summer is already statistically significant across the whole state, but models disagree on the direction of the annual changes; by late century, both the projected annual and summer decreases are statistically significant and supported with model consensus (Figure 4.7). Similarly, the potential water deficit during summer droughts with recurrence interval of 10, 20, 50, and 100 years are all projected to become significantly more severe, with model consensus, for both future periods; the projected decrease of annual water availability is statistically significant by late century, but is still inconclusive in midcentury over most of the state due to the lack of model consensus (Figure 4.8).

Table 4.3 Water availability/deficit and recurrence intervals. Multi-model ensemble means for Connecticut of the annual (aPE) and summer (sPE) P-PET, including mean and threshold values for 10, 20, 50, and 100 year recurrence intervals, and their future changes. Units: inches. The percentage values in parenthesis indicate relative changes, where negative values reflect decrease of potential water availability (annual) and positive values reflect increase of water deficit (in summer); the values in bold font after the semicolon are future recurrence interval (in years) for the reference threshold values. "N/A" indicates the lack of model consensus on the direction of changes over most of the state.

Variable	1970-99 Reference	2040-69 Change	2070-99 Change
Annual			
aPE_mean	22.3±0.7	N/A	-4.9±3.3 (-22%)
aPE_10	12.2±1.4	N/A	-7±3.8 (-56%); 4
aPE_20	9.4±1.6	N/A	-7.5±3.9 (-80%); 6
aPE_50	6.2±1.9	N/A	-8.2±4.1 (-133%); 11
aPE_100	4.0±2.1	N/A	-8.7±4.3 (-218%); 18
Summer			
sPE_mean	-3.8±0.5	-2.4±1.4 (64%)	-5±3.7 (133%)
sPE_10	-9.2±1.1	-3.8±1.8 (41%); 4	-6.8±3.3 (74%); 3
sPE_20	-10.8±1.4	-4.2±2.0 (39%); 6	-7.4±3.6 (68%); 3.5
sPE_50	-12.5±1.6	-4.7±2.3 (37%); 11.5	-7.9±4.0 (63%); 5
sPE_100	-13.7±1.8	-5.0±2.5 (36%); 20	-8.3±4.2 (61%); 8

Consistent with this projected increase of drought severity is the increase of drought frequency. For example, models agree that the extreme summer drought events with a recurrence interval of 20 years in late 20th century (corresponding to an aPE value of -10.8 inches) would occur more frequently, approximately every 6 years by midcentury and every 3-4 years by late century based on multi-model ensemble mean (Figure 4.8). Averaged over Connecticut (Table 4.3), the relative increase in frequency is much faster than that in severity During winter, with model consensus P-PET is projected to significantly increase, which is similar to the projected precipitation changes as PET is negligible in cold season.



Figure 4.9 Future recurrence intervals of rare (1-in-20-years and 1-in-100-years) events for low annual P-PET and low summer P-PET (T_aPE_20, T_sPE_20, T_aPE_100, T_sPE_100, all in years). Projections for mid-century (a,c,e,g) and late century (b,d,f,h). Brown shading reflects an increase in frequency of dry year or dry summer and green reflects a decrease.

Summary: Drought Risk

The time series of summer CDD index shows no clear future trend of dry spells (Figure 4.9), which is similar to observations from the recent decades; over most of the state the models disagree on the direction of the CDD changes for both the midcentury and late century (Figure 4.10). The number of wet days, which was observed to have a statistically significant decreasing trend in the past several decades, shows no clear future trend according to the multi-model ensemble mean (Figure 4.9); in fact, even by the end of the century, models still disagree on whether the number of wet days would increase or decrease (Figure 4.10).



Figure 4.10 Maximum consecutive dry days during JJA (CDD) and annual total wet days (N_wet). Observed (black) and projected (green) time series (a,b) for Connecticut; Model simulated spatial patterns for the reference period (c,f), projected mid-century changes (d,g) and late century changes (e,h). Black hatching indicates changes that are not significant.

Table 4.4 Multi-model ensemble of precipitation extreme indices. Computed for the reference period and projected changes for midcentury and late century (mean ± standard deviation), spatially averaged for Connecticut. Percentage values in parenthesis are relative changes corresponding to the multi-model ensemble mean. N/A indicates the lack of model consensus on the direction of changes. Units: days (unless specified otherwise).

Variable	1970-99 Reference	2040-69 Change	2070-99 Change
CDD	17.8±0.8	N/A	N/A
N_wet	126±0.9	N/A	N/A
SII (in/day)	0.4±0.06	0.036 ± 0.02	0.04±0.03
N_1inch	11.7±0.3	1.9±1.0	2.3±1.7
N99	3.6±0.0	1.3±0.6	1.6±1.0
F99 (%)	15.4±0.5	5.6±1.8	6.0±2.9

In general, results from our analysis suggest a strong increase of drought severity and frequency in the future especially towards the later part of the century, despite the projected increase of precipitation. This projected increase of drought risks is due to the increase of potential evapotranspiration caused by the significant future warming as shown in Section 3. Results on drought conditions associated with changes in precipitation frequency (e.g., CDD and N_wet) are inconclusive and lack model consensus.

Projections of Flood Risk

All indices representing the frequency or intensity of heavy precipitation are projected to increase for both midcentury and late century (Figures 4.11, 4.12, 4.13). These increases are all statistically significant across the state and show model consensus. For indices involving accumulation throughout the year (including the simple intensity index SII, number of days with precipitation more than one inch N_1inch, number of heavy precipitation days N99, and fraction of annual precipitation accounted for by heavy precipitation F99), the mean projected increases by the late century are larger than the midcentury, indicating continuous increase over time (Figures 4.11, 4.12). Based on the multi-model ensemble mean and averaged over Connecticut, N_1inch would increase from 11.7 in the late 20th century to 13.6 and 14 days in the mid-century and late century respectively; over the same time periods, N99 would increase from a reference value of 3.6 days to 4.9 and 5.2 days for the two future period respectively, and F99 would increase from a reference of 15.4% to 21% and 21.4% for the two future periods respectively.

For the 1-day and 5-day maximum precipitation (R1d and R5d), the projected mean increases for the late century are slightly lower than the midcentury (Figure 4.13). As evident from the R1d and R5d time series, both the multi-model mean and the model spread clearly increase with time up to the midcentury, and tend to plateau or even slightly decrease afterwards. Averaged over the entire state for the midcentury and late century (Table 4-5), the projected increase mounts to 27% and 22% respectively for R1d, and 20% and 19% for R5d.



Figure 4.11 Simple intensity index (SII) and annual number of days with more than 1 inch of precipitation (N_1inch). Observed (black) and projected (green) time series (a,b) for Connecticut; Model simulated spatial pattern for the reference period (c,f), projected mid-century changes (d,g) and late century changes (e,h).

In addition to the mean changes, the severity of rare R1d and R5d events (e.g., those with recurrence interval of 10, 20, 50, 100 years) are projected to significantly increase (Figure 4.14), with faster increases for the more extreme/rare events (Table 4.5). Moreover, the contrast between midcentury and late century is stronger for more extreme events. For example, averaged over Connecticut, the R1d with a recurrence interval of 20 years is projected to increase by 59% and 36% by middle and late century, and the corresponding increases for the R1d with a recurrence interval of 100 years are 91% and 49%. Correspondingly, extreme events of a given size are projected to occur more frequently in the future (i.e., with a shorter recurrence interval), approximately 3-4 times as often during the mid-century and 2-3 times as often during the late-century (Figure 4.15).



Figure 4.12 Number of days with heavy precipitation (exceeding the 99th percentile) (N99) and the fraction of annual precipitation accounted for by heavy precipitation (F99). Observed (black) and projected (green) time series (a,b) for Connecticut; Model simulated spatial patterns for the reference period (c,f), projected mid-century changes (d,g) and late century changes (e,h).



Figure 4.13 Maximum daily precipitation (R1d) and maximum 5-day precipitation (R5d). Observed (black) and projected (green) time series (a,b) for Connecticut; Model simulated spatial patterns for the reference period (c,f), projected mid-century changes (d,g) and late century changes (e,h).



Figure 4.14 Maximum daily precipitation and maximum 5-day precipitation with a recurrence interval of 20 years and 100 years (R1d_20, R1d_100, R5d_20, R5d_100, all in inches). Spatial pattern of model simulation for the reference period (a,d,g,j), projected mid-century changes (b,e,h,k) and late century changes (c,f,i,l).



Figure 4.15 Future recurrence intervals of the past rare (1-in-20-years and 1-in-100-years) events for maximum daily and maximum 5-day precipitation (T_R1d_20, T_R5d_20, T_R1d_100, T_R5d_100, all in years). Projections for mid-century (a,c,e,g) and late century (b,d,f,h). Green shading reflects an increase in frequency and brown reflects a decrease.

Table 4.5 Multi-model ensemble of flood risk indices. State-averaged multi-model ensemble statistics of projected changes for the 1-day and 5-day maximum precipitation (R1d and R5d). These includes the mean and threshold values for different recurrence intervals (10, 20, 50, and 100 years), and their future changes. Units: inches. The percentage values in parenthesis are relative changes, and the values in bold font after the semicolon are future recurrent time (in years) for the reference threshold values. All changes are statistically significant and projected with model consensus.

Variables	1970-99 Reference	2040-69 Changes	2070-99 Changes
R1d_mean	2.8±0.1	0.7±0.2 (27%)	0.6±0.2 (22%)
R1d_10	4.1±0.2	2.0±0.8 (49%); 3	1.3±0.8 (31%); 4
R1d_20	4.7±0.2	2.8±1.3 (59%); 5	1.7±1.2 (36%); 9
R1d_50	5.7±0.3	4.3±2.4 (76%); 15	2.4±2.2 (42%); 27
R1d_100	6.6±0.4	5.9±3.7 (91%); 42	3.1±3.2 (49%); 55
R5d_mean	4.5±0.3	0.9±0.4 (20%)	0.8±0.3 (19%)
R5d_10	6.5±0.6	2.4±1.1 (38%); 3	1.7±0.5 (27%); 4
R5d_20	7.3±0.8	3.4±1.7 (46%); 6	2.2±0.7 (30%); 7
R5d_50	8.5±1.0	5.2±3.0 (53%); 15	3.0±1.2 (43%); 26
R5d_100	9.6±1.2	7.1±4.4 (75%); 38	3.7±1.7 (39%); 48

Summary: Flood Risk

In summary, results for all flood risk indices suggest a statistically significant increase of flood risks in the future, with continuous increase in the number of days with heavy precipitation and in the amount of heavy precipitation. However, the heaviest event of each year, including R1d and R5d, is found to peak in mid-century and level off or even decrease afterwards. This leveling off is not expected from our theoretical understanding. Instead, it may be a reflection of specific regional features of atmospheric circulation, multi-decadal variability of the climate, or deficiencies in statistical downscaling and bias correction, and is a topic that warrants further investigation. In addition, it should be noted that climate model resolution of extremes is challenging due to the generally coarse resolution of the GCMs and the finer spatial scale of many extreme events, and the northeast region is no exception. It is therefore desirable to revisit these projected changes based on the upcoming finer-resolution CMIP6 projections.

4.5 Storms that Affect Connecticut

Mid-Latitude Storms (Extratropical Cyclones)

Over the contiguous US, the Northeast has experienced the largest increase in total annual precipitation from 1900-2015 (Chylek et al. 2017). Historically, the majority of Northeast extreme precipitation events have been from extratropical cyclones, especially in winter and spring; nearly half of all extreme precipitation events were from extratropical cyclones occurring during winter and spring (Kunkel et al. 2012). Nonetheless, while annual regional precipitation has increased, the total number of cyclones has decreased. Over the Northern Hemisphere, the greatest decrease in strong summertime (June-August) cyclones has occurred over northeastern North America, with more than a 35% reduction since 1979 (Chang et al. 2016; Easterling et al. 2017). Over the eastern US, the number of cool season (November -March) cyclones has decreased as well, though the total precipitation on days with extratropical cyclone events has been relatively constant (Colle et al. 2013; Lombardo et al. 2015). This dichotomy can be explained by changes in the extremes. Over the last century, the number of days with extreme precipitation over the Northeast has significantly increased (Griffiths and Bradley 2007), as well as the number of extreme precipitation events from extratropical cyclones (Kunkel et al. 2012). This indicates that extratropical cyclones have been decreasing in frequency, but increasing intensity.

The global climate models struggle to represent cool season (November – March) extratropical cyclones and the associated precipitation. Considering an ensemble of 17 CMIP5 models, no individual member performed better or worse considering all performance metrics, though the models with a higher spatial grid-resolution better represented regional processes (Sheffield et al. 2013). Fine-scale models better represent cyclone structure at different stages, including cyclogenesis and deepening, cyclone track density, and the regional distribution of cyclones (Bengtsson et al. 2009; Colle et al. 2013). However, regardless of resolution, all global climate models under-predict the number of extratropical cyclones, with a large spread among the members (Colle et al. 2013).

The relationship between extratropical cyclones in global climate models and precipitation is less clear. The ability of a model to accurately represent precipitation associated with cool season extratropical cyclones is not resolution dependent (Lombardo et al. 2015). Therefore, while the dynamics of the storm may be better represented in models with smaller grid spacings, the precipitation may not. Additionally, the mean CMIP5 precipitation during the historical cool season falls within range of several sources of observation data, including the Global Precipitation Climate Project (GPCP; Adler et al. 2003), Climate Prediction Center (CPC) Merged Analysis of Precipitation (CMAP; Xie and Arkin 1996, 1997), and the CPC unified daily averaged precipitation data (Higgins et al. 1996, 2000). This emphasizes the challenges in projecting changes in precipitation associated with extratropical cyclones.

In the future, changes in precipitation associated with extratropical cyclones over the region will depend on several factors, including changes in the location of the storm track, the frequency of storms, storm intensity, and precipitation (amount and rate) produced by each storm. There are consistent signals using a variety of analysis methods and techniques that provide confidence in future projections of regional precipitation, including process studies (e.g., Catto et al. 2011; Marciano et al. 2015) and ensemble analyses (e.g., Zappa et al. 2013; Colle et al. 2013; Maloney et al 2014; Lombardo et al. 2015), though there is a relatively large inter-model spread in the magnitude of these projections (Maloney et al. 2014).

The western Atlantic storm track in December-February is projected to shift northward, though the details of this shift are dependent on the analysis method. Numerical process studies in which the concentration of carbon dioxide is doubled, the upper-level jet and core of cyclone activity are displaced northeastward over the northern Atlantic Ocean (Catto et al. 2011). An ensemble of CMIP5 models indicate a northwestern shift in the extratropical cyclone storm track during the cool season (November-March), with increased activity (10-20%) over the eastern U.S. (Colle et al. 2013; Maloney et al 2014). The number of cyclones and their overall intensity is projected to decrease during the cool season over the region (Catto et al. 2011; Zappa et al. 2013; Colle et al. 2013; Maloney et al 2014; Lombardo et al. 2015), though the number of intense cyclones will increase. An ensemble CMIP5 members indicates a 10-40% increase in the number of the most intense (<980 hPa) cool season cyclones, with more rapid storm intensification along the US east coast (Colle et al. 2013). Process studies indicate that the increase in storm intensity is attributed to the increased energy associated with more water vapor within the storm (Marciano et al. 2015).

Regardless of the decrease in cool season cyclone activity, both mean and extreme precipitation is projected to increase within the western Atlantic storm track and over the eastern U.S. (Bengtsson et al 2009; Colle et al. 2013; Maloney et al. 2014; Lombardo et al. 2015). By the late-century under a high emissions scenario (RCP8.5), global climate models project a 15-25% increase in overall northeastern US cool season precipitation (Colle et al. 2013; Maloney et al. 2014; Lombardo et al. 2013; Maloney et al. 2014; Lombardo et al. 2015), and a 20% increase in precipitation per cyclone (Lombardo et al. 2015). The number of heavy precipitation events (>25 mm/d) associated with cool season cyclones will rise 50% by the early 21st century and 4-5 times by the late 21st century, indicating a dramatic increase in the number of extreme precipitation events (Colle et al. 2013; Maloney et al. 2014). Much of this increase will occur in the form of rain, with less snow projected for future extratropical cyclones over the eastern U.S. (Marciano et al. 2015).

Atlantic Hurricanes (Tropical Cyclones)

Over the past century, there has been no significant trend in tropical cyclone (TC) activity in the North Atlantic Basin, including landfalling TCs and hurricanes (Knutson et al. 2010). Historically, TC activity was thought to have increased, with the greater frequency attributed to global warming (Mann and Emanuel 2006). More recent analysis has shown that analysis of historical TC activity is sensitive to the timeframe over which the analysis is performed, the amount of data included in the analysis, the analysis methods, and the changing observational capability over the past century. Analyzing Atlantic TC activity from 1900-2006 yields a significant positive trend, though this is highly influenced by a minimum in activity from 1910-30 (Vecchi and Knutson 2008). The trend becomes only weakly positive when the analysis includes the late (1878-2006). The inclusion of ship track data in the pre-satellite 19th century as well (1878-1965) era further alters the trend from positive to negative (Vecchi and Knutson 2011). Similar issues plague analyses of Atlantic hurricanes as well. The significant increase in activity from the late 19th century to present day becomes insignificant when the analyses begins in the mid 19th century (Knutson et al. 2010). For major hurricanes, the inclusion of an additional decade of recent data reduces the increasing trend, and causes it to become statistically insignificant (Webster et al. 2005; Klotzbach and Landsea 2015).

Additionally, the quality of historical North Atlantic TC data is questionable, especially prior to aircraft reconnaissance (1944), and deemed to be unreliable for climate-trend analyses (Landsea et al. 2006; Knutson et al. 2010). For example, studies have surmised a substantial low-bias in Atlantic TC intensity during the last half of the 19th century into the early 20th century

(Knutson et al. 2010). When these storms are adjusted to their more likely, higher intensity, the historical trend in Atlantic hurricane frequency becomes essentially flat (Knutson et al. 2010). Data associated with landfalling TCs and hurricanes are more reliable than for the Atlantic basin as a whole. Regardless, the data show no long-term increase in U.S. landfalling storms (Knutson et al. 2010). Based on more reliable satellite observations, North Atlantic TC activity has statistically significantly increased in recent decades, though it should be emphasized that these conclusions are not deduced from long-term trends (Walsh et al. 2016).

Finally, it is unknown whether these observed historical changes in North Atlantic TC activity are due to natural or anthropogenic activities (e.g., Knutson et al. 2010).For example, the number of short-duration (2 days or less) TCs was reported to increase dramatically since the late 19th century, which was attributed to the increase in Atlantic TC activity rather than global warming (Vecchi and Knutson 2008; Landsea et al. 2009), though the application of a different analysis method yielded no detectable trend (Villarini et al. 2011), emphasizing analysis issues discussed above.

In the CMIP5 models (RCP4.5 and 8.5), there is no robust signal in future tropical cyclone frequency, both globally and for the North Atlantic Basin (Camargo 2013). In part, this may be a consequence of the coarse numerical grid resolution of Global Climate Models, that is deficient at resolving tropical cyclones given the spatial and temporal scale of the phenomenon. In the historical time period, CMIP5 models underrepresent the frequency of global TCs compared to observations and inadequately represent TC tracks and development regions (Camargo 2013).

To ameliorate TC projections, a variety of analytical and numerical techniques have been employed to quantify future tropical cyclone activity, such as analyses of environmental fields associated with TC activity, statistical downscaling, dynamical downscaling, and pseudoglobal warming methods. However, projections in TC frequency, intensity (central pressure, precipitation intensity), track, and duration are sensitive to the grid-resolution of the numerical model (Camargo 2013; Emanuel 2013), the numerical model used in the analyses (e.g. variations in the numerical core and physics), the representative concentration pathway, and progressions in the full ensemble (CMIP3 vs. CMIP5; Knutson et al., 2013). This makes it challenging to synthesize TC projections and obtain robust conclusions regarding future TC activity.

Generally, there is greater confidence in the projection of TC intensity and precipitation than TC frequency and storm track (Knutson et al. 2010). Both globally and over the North Atlantic, environmental trends under RCP8.5 indicate an increase in TC activity and intensity (Emanuel 2013). Conversely, dynamical downscaling suggests a statistically significant decrease in TC activity over the Atlantic Basin, with more robust trends in the CMIP3 than CMIP5 (Knutson et al. 2013). They also, however, indicate a significant increase in the most intense TCs (category 4 & 5) and an increase in TC rainfall rates. Dynamical downscaling with emphases on changes in temperature, moisture, and vertical stability (ability of the atmosphere to mix vertically) show that storms will be more intense, with deeper low pressure centers and an increase in precipitation within the storm cores (Hill and Lackmann 2011): this increase in conjunction with the projected rise in sea level could lead to an increase in storm surge (Woodruff et al. 2013). Additionally,TC activity is projected to shift poleward, though this trend is not significant in the North Atlantic basin (Kossin et al. 2016). However, these the results are sensitive to the emissions scenario (Hill and Lackmann 2011). Additionally, the atmosphere becomes more stable (less likely to mix vertically) as it warms, and this can mitigate the increase in storm intensity due to rising sea surface temperatures.

5. Research Gaps and Recommendations

In this report we have reviewed the scientific literature to highlight insights gained about recent observed trends and future projections of temperature and precipitation that are relevant for the state of Connecticut but have generally emphasized the Northeast U.S. or larger regions. We have also presented new analysis of high resolution datasets (both observations and downscaled climate model projections) with a specific geographic focus on Connecticut.

Several research gaps were identified while conducting this assessment. First, the new highresolution gridded observations provide interesting views of spatial patterns in temperature and precipitation across the state, however, the length of the data is still insufficient to characterize long term observed trends, especially for precipitation.

Second, while the standard temperature-only extremes analyzed here show dramatic responses to future warming, a number of studies have suggested that the combined effects of changes in temperature and humidity can pose severe risks to human health. These more complex relationships will require further study and should be included in a future assessment.

Third, our analysis of precipitation extremes suggests a substantial increase in flood risk in the coming decades, beyond the changes currently seen. However, in this analysis the increase in flood risk appears to peak at mid-century and then level off particularly for the maximum daily precipitation (R1d) amount, an indicator of increased flash flood risk, and the maximum five-day precipitation (R5d) amount, an indicator of flood risk over large watersheds. These results are likely due to changing dynamics of the Atlantic high pressure system in summer (e.g., Thibeault and Seth, 2014) and will require further investigation.

Fourth, based on our analysis and previous studies, observed changes in precipitation since 1950 are significant only in summer; based on data record extending back to 1896, the largest changes are in the fall season. In contrast, for future projections, both our analysis and previous studies suggest significant increases in the winter-spring seasons with some decrease in summer and fall though these either not significant or inconclusive due to lack of model consensus. More work is needed to understand why observed precipitation changes were dominated by an increase during summer or fall season while future projections are dominated by increases in winter and spring.

Fifth, major snow storms are important precipitation mechanisms during winter and present a different challenges and risks. In this assessment, different precipitation forms were not distinguished and snow-specific risks and changes were not evaluated. This will be an important area of future research.

This assessment has focused on physical climate (temperature and precipitation) changes for the State of Connecticut. It is recognized that state assessments like this one are motivated by the need to provide information to local decision makers. For this assessment, dozens of temperature and precipitation indices were assessed; however, it is not clear how relevant these indices are for decision makers or how they will be used in decision-making. We view this assessment as the beginning of a dialog with practitioners that would benefit from a rigorous applied social science approach to explore what makes assessment information useful and what information is ultimately used in decision making. Understanding *assessment usability* is a challenge not just for this assessment but for assessment usability at any scale

(except see Galford et al. 2016, Weaver et al. 2017, and Kirchhoff et al. 2019), and especially the usability of state assessments.

In contrast to the challenges related to usability, there has been significant scholarly attention paid at the national and international assessment scale to understanding what influences perceptions of *assessment credibility* (Farrell and Jäger 2006). International and national assessments generate credibility through peer-review, through the involvement of recognized experts, and through an open, transparent process (NAS, 2007, Farrell and Jäger 2006). But questions remain whether or not approaches used at the national or international scales of assessment are necessary or sufficient for establishing credibility (and expectations regarding the use of climate information for local decision making) might alter the calculus for perceptions of credibility.

Recommendations for future Connecticut climate assessments include (1) the creation of an ongoing climate assessment process and ongoing process for assessing the usability of assessment information, (2) periodically assessing user climate information needs, and (3) integrating with the assessment of physical climate an analysis of potential implications of climate changes on people, businesses, and the natural environment in Connecticut and of potential adaptation actions for their effectiveness on mitigating these impacts. An ongoing assessment process is important as it would enable new insights from climate science and observed changes in the climate system to be reflected in evolving climate assessments. International and national assessment processes tend to follow this ongoing assessment model (US Global Change Research Act of 1990, IPCC) and a few states including California have initiated such a process. It is critical that ongoing assessment attends to assessing users' needs for climate information in addition to assessing the physical climate. Adopting an ongoing assessment that attends to not just the physical climate science but also to linking assessment to users' needs (i.e., social science questions) would likely result in practical benefits (an assessment that is useful for decision makers) as well as advancing our fundamental understanding of what makes assessments usable. Moreover, ongoing assessments are better able to engage with practitioners in an ongoing basis and result in mutual learning about climate science and impacts on the one hand and about user information needs on the other.

Beyond just the next Connecticut climate assessment, we also considered recommendations for future state assessments. First, while state and regional climate assessments often evaluate and select global climate models based on their ability to reliably capture the full range of uncertainty in temperature and precipitation for a given location, the same kind of rigorous evaluation is not often applied to downscaled climate data products. Instead, it is common to simply apply vetted products, such as the LOCA dataset used in the US National Climate Assessment, for local assessment needs. Results from our work suggests downscaled climate datasets should be evaluated to avoid the potential for over or underestimating extreme (very low or very high) precipitation amounts if the database does not capture the local precipitation well. For example, we found that the LOCA data tends to underestimate heavy precipitation and overestimate light precipitation, which significantly influences daily precipitation statistics, especially extremes. While this may or may not influence the relative changes projected for the future, it does influence the absolute magnitude of some quantities that are needed for infrastructure design, e.g., the magnitude of maximum daily precipitation. Out of this data quality consideration, in our assessment we adjusted how we used each dataset to take advantage of their strengths and mitigate this identified weakness.

References

Abatzoglou, J.T., Brown T.J. (2012). A comparison of statistical downscaling methods suited for wildfire applications. International Journal of Climatology 32: 772-780.

Abatzoglou J.T. (2013). Development of gridded surface meteorological data for ecological applications and modelling. International Journal of Climatology 33: 121-131.

Adler, R.F., Huffman, G.J., Chang, A., Ferraro, R., Xie, P., Janowiak, J., Rudolf, B., Schneider, U., Curtis, S., Bolvin, D., Gruber, A., Susskind, J., Arkin, P., Nelkin, E. (2003). The Version-2 Global Precipitation Climatology Project (GPCP) Monthly Precipitation Analysis (1979–Present). J. Hydrometeor. 4: 1147–1167.

Agel, L., Barlow, M., Qian, J., Colby, F., Douglas, E., Eichler, T. (2015). Climatology of daily precipitation and extreme precipitation events in the Northeast United States. J. Hydrometeor., 16: 2537–2557.

Ahmed, K.F., Wang, G.L., Silander, J., Wilson, M.A., Allen, J.M., Horton, R., Anyah, R. (2013). Statistical downscaling and bias correction of climate model outputs for climate change impact assessment in the U.S. Northeast. Global and Planetary Changes, 100: 320-332.

Allen, R., Soden, B. (2008). Atmospheric warming and amplification of precipitation extremes. Science 321: 1481–1484.

Anderson, B., Hayhoe, K., Liang, X.-Z. (2010). Anthropogenic-induced changes in twenty-first century summertime hydro-climatology of the northeastern US. Climatic Change, 99: 403–423.

Barsugli, J.J., Guentchev, G., Horton, R.M., Wood, A., Mearns, L.O., Liang, X.-Z., Winkler, J.A., Dixon, K., Hayhoe, K., Rood, R.B., et al. (2013). The practitioner's dilemma: how to assess the credibility of downscaled climate projections. Eos, Transactions American Geophysical Union 9: 424–425.

Bengtsson, L., Hodges, K.I., Keenlyside, N. (2009). Will extratropical storms intensify in a warmer Climate? Journal of Climate 22: 2276–2301.

Brooks, R.T. (2009). Potential impacts of global climate change on the hydrology and ecology of ephemeral freshwater systems of the forests of the northeastern United States. Climatic Change 9: 469–483.

Brown, P.J., Bradley, R.S., Keimig, F.T. (2010). Changes in extreme climate indices for the Northeastern United States, 1870-2005. Journal of Climate 23: 6555–6572.

Brown, P.J., DeGaetano, A.T. (2011). A paradox of cooling winter soil surface temperatures in a warming northeastern United States. Agric. For. Meteor., 151: 947–956.

Burakowski, E., Wake, C., Braswell, B., Brown, D. (2008). Trends in wintertime climate in the northeastern United States: 1965–2005. J. Geophys. Res., 113: D20114.

Camargo, S.J. (2013). Global and regional aspects of tropical cyclone activity in the CMIP5 Models. Journal of Climate 26: 9880–9902.

Camargo, S., Seth, A. (2016). Hottest summers the new normal. Environmental Research Letters, 11: 081001.

Catto, J.L., Shaffrey, L.C., Hodges, K.I. (2011). Northern hemisphere extratropical cyclones in a warming climate in the HiGEM High-Resolution Climate Model. Journal of Climate 24: 5336–5352.

Chang, E.K.M., Ma, C.-G., Zheng, C., Yau, A.M.W. (2016). Observed and projected decrease in Northern Hemisphere extratropical cyclone activity in summer and its impacts on maximum temperature. Geophys. Res. Lett. 43: 2200–2208.

Cohen, S.J. (1996). Bringing the global warming issue closer to home: The challenge of regional impact studies. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 71: 520–526.

Colle, B.A., Zhang, Z., Lombardo, K.A., Chang, E., Liu, P., Zhang, M. (2013). Historical evaluation and future prediction of eastern North American and western Atlantic extratropical cyclones in the CMIP5 models during the cool season. Journal of Climate 26: 6882-6903.

Collins, M.J. (2009). Evidence for changing flood risk in New England since the late 20th century. J Amer Water Resour Assoc 45: 279–290.

CT DEEP (2010). The Impacts of Climate Change on Connecticut Agriculture, Infrastructure, Natural Resources and Public Health: A Report by the Adaptation Subcommittee to the Governor's Steering Committee on Climate Change. Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection.

CT DEEP (2011). Connecticut Climate Change Preparedness Plan: Adaptation Strategies for Agriculture, Infrastructure, Natural Resources and Public Health Climate Change Vulnerabilities. A Report by the Governor's Steering Committee on Climate Change (GSC) Adaptation Subcommittee. Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection.

Chylek, Dubey, P.M.K., Hengartner, N., Klett, J.D. (2017). Observed and projected precipitation changes over nine US climate regions. Atmosphere 8: 207.

Donat, M.G., Alexander, L.V., Yang, H. et al. (2013). Updated analyses of temperature and precipitation extreme indices since the beginning of the twentieth century: the HadEX2 dataset. J Geophys Res Atmos 118: 2098–2118.

Easterling, D., Meehl, G., Parmesan, C., Changnon, S., Karl, T., Mearns, L. (2000). Climate extremes: observations, modeling, and impacts. Science 289: 2068–2074.

Easterling, D.R., Kunkel, K.E., Arnold, J.R., Knutson, T., LeGrande, A.N., Leung, L.R., Vose, R.S., Waliser, D.E., Wehner, M.F. (2017). Precipitation change in the United States. In: Climate Science Special Report:Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I. Wuebbles, D.J., D.W. Fahey, K.A. Hibbard, D.J. Dokken, B.C. Stewart, and T.K. Maycock (eds.). U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington DC, pp. 207-230.

Emanuel, K. A. (2013). Downscaling CMIP5 climate models shows increased tropical cyclone activity over the 21st century. PNAS 110: 12219-12224.

Emanuel, K. (2005). Increasing destructiveness of tropical cyclones over the past 30 years. Nature 436: 686.

Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs (EEA) and the Adaptation Advisory Committee (2011). Massachusetts Climate Change Adaptation Report.

Fischer, E. M., Kutti, R. (2016). Observed heavy precipitation increase confirms theory and early models. Nature Climate Change 6: 986-991.

Farrell, E., Jäger, J. (2006). Assessments of regional and global environmental risks: Designing processes for the effective use of science in decision making. Washington, DC: Resources for the Future.

Frich, P., Alexander, L.V., Della-Marta, P. et al. (2002). Observed coherent changes in climatic extremes during the second half of the twentieth century. Clim Res 19:193–212.

Galford, G.L., Hoogenboom, A., Carlson, S., Ford, S., Nash, J., Palchak, E., Pears, S., Underwood, K., and Baker, D.V. (eds.) (2014). Considering Vermont's Future in a Changing Climate: The First Vermont Climate Assessment. Gund Institute for Ecological Economics, 219 pp.

Galford, G.L., Nash, J., Betts, A.K., Carlson, S., Ford, S., Hoogenboom, A., Markowitz, D., Nash, A., Palchak, E., Pears, S., and Underwood, K.L. (2016). Bridging the climate information gap: a framework for engaging knowledge brokers and decision makers in state climate assessments. Climatic Change 138: 383–395.

Gornitz, V., Hale, S., Larsen, K., Levine, N., Rosenzweig, C., Sacks, L. (2004). Bracing for Climate Change in the Constitution State: What Connecticut Could Face. Environmental Defense Fund.

Griffiths, M.L., Bradley, R.S. (2007). Variations of twentieth-century temperature and precipitation extreme indicators in the northeast United States. Journal of Climate 20: 5401–5417.

Groisman, R., Knight, W., Karl, T.R., Easterling, D.R., Sun, B., Lawrimore, J.M. (2004). Contemporary changes of the hydrological cycle over the contiguous United States: Trends derived from in situ observations. J. Hydrometeor. 5: 64–85.

Groisman, P., Knight, R., Easterling, D., Karl, T., Hegerl, G., Razuvaev, V. (2005). Trends in intense precipitation in the climate record. J. Clim. 18: 1326–1350.

Gutmann, E., Pruitt, T., Clark, M. P., Brekke, L., Arnold, J. R., Raff, D. A., & Rasmussen, R. M. (2014). An intercomparison of statistical downscaling methods used for water resource assessments in the United States. Water Resources Research, 50(9), 7167-7186.

Hakkinen, S. (2011). Atmospheric blocking and Atlantic multi- decadal ocean variability. Science, 334, 655–659.

Hayhoe, K., Wake, C.P., Huntington, T.G. et al. (2007). Past and future changes in climate and hydrological indicators in the US Northeast. Clim Dyn 28: 381–407.

Hayhoe, K., Wake, C.P., Anderson, B. et al. (2008). Regional climate change projections for the Northeast USA. Mitigation and Adapation Strategies for Global Change 13: 425–436.

Hegger, D., Lamers, M., Van Zeijl-Rozema, A., Dieperink, C. (2012). Conceptualising joint knowledge production in regional climate change adaptation projects: success conditions and levers for action. Environ Sci Pol 18: 52–65.

Henderson-Sellers, A., Zhang, H., Berz, G., Emanuel, K., Gray, W., Landsea, C., Holland, G., Lighthill, J., Shieh, S., Webster, P., McGuffie, K. (1998). Tropical cyclones and global climate change: a post-IPCC assessment. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 79: 19-38.

Higgins, R.W., Mo, K.C., and Schubert, S.D. (1996). The moisture budget of the central United States in spring as evaluated in the NCEP/NCAR and the NASA/DAO reanalyses. Mon. Wea. Rev. 124: 939–963.

Higgins, R.W., Leetmaa, A., Xue, Y., Barnston, A. (2000). Dominant factors influencing the seasonal predictability of U.S. precipitation and surface air temperature. Journal of Climate 13: 3994–4017.

Hill, K.A., Lackmann, G.M. (2011). The impact of future climate change on TC intensity and structure: a downscaling approach. Journal of Climate 24: 4644–4661.

Hodgkins, G.A., James, I.C., Huntington, T.G. (2002). Historical changes in lake ice-out dates as indicators of climate change in New England, 1850–2000. Int. J. Climatol., 22, 1819–1827.

Hodgkins, G.A., Dudley, R.W. (2011). Historical summer base flow and stormflow trends for New England rivers. Water Resour Res 47: W07528.

Horton, R., Yohe, G., Easterling, W., Kates, R., Ruth, M., Sussman, E., Whelchel, A., Wolfe, D., Lipschultz, F. (2014). Ch. 16: Northeast. Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment, Melillo, J.M., Richmond, T.C., Yohe, G.W. (eds.) U.S. Global Change Research Program, 16-1-nn.

Hosking, J.R.M. (1990). L-moments: analysis and estimation of distributions using linear combinations of order statistics. J R Stat Soc 52: 105–124.

Huntington, T.G. (2003). Climate warming could reduce runoff significantly in New England, USA. J. Agric. For. Meteorol. 117, 193–201.

Huntington, T.G., Hodgkins, G.A., Keim, B.D., Dudley, R.W. (2004). Changes in the proportion of precipitation occurring as snow in New England (1949–2000). J. Climate, 17, 2626–2636.

IPCC (2013). Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 1535 pp.

IPCC (2014). Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L. White (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 1132 pp.

Janssen, E., Wuebbles, D.J., Kunkel, K.E., Olsen, S.C., Goodman, A. (2014). Observational- and modelbased trends and projections of extreme precipitation over the contiguous United States. Earth's Future 2: 99-113.

Karmalkar, A.V., Bradley, R.S. (2017). Consequences of global warming of 1.5 °C and 2 °C for regional temperature and precipitation changes in the contiguous United States. PLoS ONE 12: e0168697.

Karmalkar, A.V., Thibeault, J.M., Bryan, A.M., Seth, A. (2018, in review). A framework for selecting CMIP5 GCMs for analyses of climate change and its impacts in the northeastern United States, Climatic Change.

Keim, B., Rock, B. (2002). Chapter 2: New England region's changing climate. In Preparing for a Changing Climate: New England Regional Regional Assessment Overview, U.S. Global Change Research Program, University of New Hampshire, 96 pp.

Kharin, V., Zwiers, F., Zhang, X., Wehner, M. (2013). Changes in temperature and precipitation extremes in the CMIP5 ensemble. Climatic Change 119: 345–357.

Kharin, V.V., Flato, G.M., Zhang, X., Gillett, N.P., Zwier, F., Anderson, K.J. (2018). Risks from climate extremes change differently from 1.5°C to 2.0°C depending on rarity. Earth's Future 6: 704-715.

Kirchhoff, C.J., Lemos, M.C., Dessai, S. (2013). Actionable knowledge for environmental decision making: broadening the usability of climate science. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 38: 393–414.

Kirchhoff, C.J., Barsugli, J.J., Galford, G.L., Karmalkar, A.V., Lombardo, K., Stephenson, S.R., Barlow, M., Seth, A. and Wang, G. (2019). Climate Assessments for Local Action. Bull. Amer. Meteorol. Soc., revised.

Klotzbach, P. J. and C. W. Landsea (2015). Extremely intense hurricanes: Revisiting Webster et al. (2005) after 10 years. J. Climate, 28: 7621-7629.

Knutson, T.R., J.L. McBride, J. Chan, K. Emanuel, G. Holland, C. Landsea, I. Held, J.P. Kossin, A.K. Srivastava, and M. Sugi (2010). Tropical cyclones and climate change. Nature Geoscience, 3: 157-163.

Knutson, T.R., Sirutis, J.J., Vecchi, G.A., Garner, S., Zhao, M., Kim, H., Bender, M., Tuleya, R.E., Held, I.M., Villarini, G. (2013). Dynamical downscaling projections of twenty-first-century Atlantic hurricane activity: CMIP3 and CMIP5 model-based scenarios. Journal of Climate 26: 6591–6617.

Knutti, R., Furrer, R., Tebaldi, C., Cermak, J., Meehl, G.A. (2010). Challenges in combining projections from multiple climate models. Journal of Climate 23: 2739–2758.

Kossin, J.P., K.A. Emanuel, and S.J. Camargo (2016). Past and projected changes in western North Pacific tropical cyclone exposure. J. Climate, 29: 5725-5739..

Kunkel, K., Stevens, L., Stevens, S. et al. (2013). Regional climate trends and scenarios for the U.S. National Climate Assessment. Part1. Climate of the Northeast U.S. Tech. Rep. NESDIS 142-1, U.S. Department of Commerce National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.

Kunkel, K.E., Easterling, D.R., Kristovich, D.A., Gleason, B., Stoecker, L., Smith, R. (2012). Meteorological causes of the secular variations in observed extreme precipitation events for the conterminous United States. J. Hydrometeor. 13: 1131–1141.

Landsea, C.W., B.A. Harper, K. Horau, and J.A. Knaff (2006). Can we detect trends in extreme tropical cyclones? Science, 313: 452–454.

Landsea, C.W., Vecchi, G.A., Bengtsson, L., Knutson, T.R. (2010). Impact of duration thresholds on Atlantic tropical cyclone counts. Journal of Climate 23: 2508–2519.

Livneh, B., Bohn, T.J., Pierce, D.W., Munoz-Arriola, F., Nijssen, B., Vose, R., Cayan, D.R., Brekke, L. (2015). A spatially comprehensive, hydrometeorological data set for Mexico, the U.S., and Southern Canada 1950-2013. Nature Scientific Data, 2: 150042.

Lombardo, K., Colle, B.A., Zhang, Z. (2015). Evaluation of historical and future cool season precipitation over the eastern United States and western Atlantic storm track using CMIP5 models. Journal of Climate 28: 451-467.

Lukas, J., Barsugli, J., Doesken, N., Rangwala, I., and Wolter, K. (2014). Climate Change in Colorado: A synthesis to support water resources management and adaptation. Boulder, CO: University of Colorado.

Lynch, C., Seth, A., Thibeault, J. (2016). Recent and projected annual cycles of temperature and precipitation in the Northeast United States from CMIP5. Journal of Climate, 29: 347-365.

Maloney, E.D., Camargo, S.J., Chang, E., Colle, B., Fu, R., Geil, K.L., Hu, Q., Jiang, X., Johnson, N., Karnauskas, K.B., Kinter, J., Kirtman, B., Kumar, S., Langenbrunner, B., Lombardo, K., Long, L.N., Mariotti, A., Meyerson, J.E., Mo, K.C, Neelin, J.D., Pan, Z., Seager, R., Serra, Y., Seth, A, Sheffield, J., Stroeve, J., Thibeault, J., Xie, S., Wang, C., Wyman, B., Zhao, M. (2014). North American climate in CMIP5 experiments: part III: assessment of twenty-first-century projections. Journal of Climate 27: 2230–2270.

Mann, M.E., Emanuel, K.A. (2006). Atlantic hurricane trends linked to climate change Eos 87: 233-241.

Marciano, C.G., Lackmann, G.M., Robinson, W.A. (2015). Changes in U.S. east coast cyclone dynamics with climate change. Journal of Climate 28: 468–484.

Marshall, E., Randhir, T. (2008). Effect of climate change on watershed system: a regional analysis. Climatic Change 89: 263–280.

Mearns, Linda O.; Arritt, Ray; Biner, Sébastien et al., (2012). The North American Regional Climate Change Assessment Program: Overview of Phase I Results. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society; DOI:10.1175/BAMS-D-11-00223.1.

Menne, M.J., Durre, I., Vose, R.S., Gleason, B.E., Houston, T.G. (2012). An overview of the Global Historical Climatology Network-Daily Database. Journal of Atmospheric and Oceanic Technology 29: 897-910.

Mueller, B., Zhang, X., Zwiers, F.W. (2016). Historically hottest summers projected to be the norm for more than half of the world's population within 20 years Environmental Research Letters 11: 044011.

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NAS) (2007). Analysis of Global Change Assessments Lessons Learned. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NAS) (2016). Characterizing Risk in Climate Change Assessments: Summary of A Workshop for the US Global Change Research Program. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (2017). Global and regional sea level rise scenarios for the United States. Technical Report NOS CO-OPS 083.

Ning, L., Bradley, R.S. (2015). Winter climate extremes over the northeastern united states and southeastern Canada and teleconnections with large-scale modes of climate variability. Journal of Climate 28: 2475–2493.

Ning, L., Riddle, E.E., Bradley, R.S. (2015). Projected changes in climate extremes over the Northeastern United States. J. Climate, 28: 3289–3310.

O'Gorman, P.A., Schneider, T. (2009). The physical basis for increases in precipitation extremes in simulations of 21st-century climate change. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106: 14773–14777.

Parr, D.T., Wang, G.L. (2014). Hydrological changes in the U.S. Northeast using the Connecticut River Basin as a case study: Part 1. Modeling and analysis of the past. Global and Planetary Change, 122: 208-222.

Parr, D.T., Wang, G.L., Ahmed, K.F. (2015). Hydrological changes in the U.S. Northeast using the Connecticut River Basin as a case study: Part 2. Projections of the future. Global and Planetary Change, 133: 167-175.

Peterson, T.C., Zhang, X., Brunet-India, M., Vazquez-Aguirre, J.L. (2008). Changes in North American extremes derived from daily weather data. J Geophys Res Atmos 113: D07113.

Peterson, T.C., Heim, R.R., Hirsch, R. et al. (2013). Monitoring and understanding changes in heat waves, cold waves, floods and droughts in the United States: State of knowledge. Bull Amer Meteorol Soc. doi:10.1175/BAMS-D-12-00066.1

Pierce, D. W., Cayan, D.R., Thrasher, B.L. (2014). Statistical downscaling using Localized Constructed Analogs (LOCA). Journal of Hydrometeorology, 15: 2558-2585.

Pierce, D. W., Cayan, D.R., Maurer, E.P., Abatzoglou, J.T., Hegewisch, K.C. (2015). Improved bias correction techniques for hydrological simulations of climate change. Journal of Hydrometeorology, 16: 2421-2442.

Sanford, T., Frumhoff, P.C., Luers, A., Gulledge, J. (2014). The climate policy narrative for a dangerously warming world. Nature Climate Change 4: 164-166.

Scoccimarro, E., Gualdi, S., Bellucci, A. et al. (2013). Heavy precipitation events in a warmer climate: results from CMIP5 models. Journal of Climate 26: 7902–7911.

Seager, R., Pederson, N., Kushnir, Y., Nakamura, J., Jurburg, S. (2012). The 1960s drought and the subsequent shift to a wetter climate in the Catskill Mountains region of the New York City watershed. Journal of Climate, 25: 6721–6742.

Sheffield, J., Barrett, A., Colle, B., Fernando, D.N., Fu, R., Geil, K.L., Hu, Q., Kinter, J., Kumar, S., Langenbrunner, B., Lombardo, K., Long, L.N., Maloney, E., Mariotti, A., Meyerson, J.E., Mo, K.C., Neelin, D., Nigam, S., Pan, Z., Ren, T., Ruiz-Barradas, A., Serra, Y.L., Seth, A., Thibeault, J.M., Stroeve, J.C., Yang, Z., Yin, L. (2013). North American climate in CMIP5 experiments. Part I: evaluation of historical simulations of continental and regional climatology. Journal of Climate 26: 9209-9245.

Sillmann, J., Kharin, V.V., Zhang, X. et al. (2013a). Climate extremes indices in the CMIP5 multimodel ensemble: Part 1. model evaluation in the present climate. J Geophys Res Atmos 118: 1716–1733.

Sillmann, J., Kharin, V.V., Zwiers, F.W. et al. (2013b). Climate extremes indices in the CMIP5 multimodel ensemble: Part 2. future climate projections. J Geophys Res Atmos 118: 2473–2493.

Smid, M., Costa, A.C. (2017). Climate projections and downscaling techniques: a discussion for impact studies in urban systems. International Journal of Urban Sciences. doi: 10.1080/12265934.2017.1409132

Taylor, K.E., Stouffer, R.J., Meehl, G.A. (2012). An overview of CMIP5 and the experiment design. Bull Amer Meteorol Soc 93: 485–498.

Tebaldi, C., Hayhoe, K., Arblaster, J., Meehl, G. (2006). Going to the extremes. Climatic Change 79: 185–211.

Tebaldi, C., Knutti, R. (2007). The use of the multi-model ensemble in probabilistic climate projections. Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. 365A: 2053–2075.

Tebaldi, C., Arblaster, J.M., Knutti, R. (2011). Mapping model agreement on future climate projections. Geophys. Res. Lett. 38: L23701.

Thibeault, J., Seth, A. (2014). Changing climate extremes in the Northeast U.S.: HadEX2 observations and CMIP5 simulations and projections. Climatic Change, 127: 273287.

Thibeault, J., Seth, A. (2015). Toward the credibility of Northeast United States summer precipitation projections in CMIP5 and NARCCAP simulations. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres, 120: 10050-10073.
Trenberth, K. (1999). Conceptual framework for changes of extremes of the hydrologic cycle with climate change. Climatic Change 42: 327–339.

Trombulak, S. C., Wolfson, R. (2004). Twentieth-century climate change in New England and New York, USA. Geophys. Res. Lett., 31, L19202.

USGCRP (2014). Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC.

USGCRP (2017). Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I. Wuebbles, D.J., D.W. Fahey, K.A. Hibbard, D.J. Dokken, B.C. Stewart, and T.K. Maycock (eds.). U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington DC, 470 pp.

Van Vuuren, D. P., Edmonds, J., Kainuma, M., Riahi, K., Thomson, A., Hibbard, K., ... & Masui, T. (2011). The representative concentration pathways: an overview. Climatic change, 109(1-2), 5.

Vecchi, G.A., Knutson, T.R. (2008). On estimates of historical north Atlantic tropical cyclone activity. Journal of Climate 21: 3580–3600.

Villarini, G., Vecchi, G.A., Knutson, T.R., Zhao, M., Smith, J.A. (2011). North Atlantic tropical storm frequency response to anthropogenic forcing: projections and sources of uncertainty. Journal of Climate 24: 3224–3238.

Vose, R.S., Easterling, D.R., Kunkel, K.E., LeGrande, A.N., Wehner, M.F. (2017). Temperature changes in the United States. In: Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I. Wuebbles, D.J., D.W. Fahey, K.A. Hibbard, D.J. Dokken, B.C. Stewart, and T.K. Maycock (eds.). U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington DC, pp. 185-206.

Walsh, J., Wuebbles, D., Hayhoe, K., Kossin, J., Kunkel, K., Stephens, G., Thorne, P., Vose, R., Wehner, M., Willis, J., Anderson, D., Doney, S., Feely, R., Hennon, P., Kharin, V., Knutson, T., Landerer, F., Lenton, T., Kennedy, J., Somerville, R. (2014). Ch. 2: Our Changing Climate. Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment, J. M. Melillo, T.C. Richmond, and G. W. Yohe (eds.), U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington DC, pp. 19-67.

Walsh, K.J., Camargo, S.J., Vecchi, G.A., Daloz, A.S., Elsner, J., Emanuel, K. et al. (2015). Hurricanes and climate: the US CLIVAR working group on hurricanes. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96: 997-1017.

Walsh, K. J.E., J.L. McBride, P. J. Klotzbach, S. Balachandran, S.J. Camargo, G. Holland, T. R. Knutson, J. P. Kossin, T.-C. Lee, A. Sobel, and M. Sugi (2016). Tropical cyclones and climate change. WIREs Clim. Change, 7: 65-89.

Wang, G.L., Wang, D.G., Trenberth, K.E., Erfanian, A., Yu, M., Bosilovich, M.G., Parr, D. (2017). Peak structure and future changes of the relationships between extreme precipitation and temperature. Nature Climate Change 7: 268-274.

Wang, R., Wu, L. (2013). Climate changes of Atlantic tropical cyclone formation derived from twentiethcentury reanalysis. Journal of Climate 26: 8995–9005. Weaver, C.P., Moss, R.H., Ebi, K.L., Gleick, P.H., Stern, P.C., Tebaldi, C., Wilson, R.S., Arvai, J.L. (2017). Reframing climate change assessments around risk: recommendations for the US National Climate Assessment. Environmental Research Letters 12: 080201.

Webster, P.J., G.J. Holland, J.A. Curry, and H.-R. Chang (2005). Changes in tropical cyclone number, duration and intensity in a warming environment. Science, 309: 1844-1846.

Woodruff, J.D., J. L. Irish, S. J. Camargo (2013). Coastal flooding by tropical cyclones and sea level rise. Nature, 504: 44-52.

Wuebbles, D.J., Fahey, D.W., Hibbard, K.A., DeAngelo, B., Doherty, S., Hayhoe, K., Horton, R., Kossin, J.P., Taylor, P.C., Waple, A.M., Weaver, C.P. (2017). Executive summary. In: Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I. Wuebbles, D.J., D.W. Fahey, K.A. Hibbard, D.J. Dokken, B.C. Stewart, and T.K. Maycock (eds.). U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington DC, pp. 12-34.

Xie, P., Arkin, P.A. (1997). Global precipitation: a 17-year monthly analysis based on gauge observations, satellite estimates, and numerical model outputs. Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc. 78: 2539–2558.

Xie, P., Arkin, P.A. (1996). Analyses of global monthly precipitation using gauge observations, satellite estimates, and numerical model predictions. Journal of Climate 9: 840–858.

Xie, S.P., Deser, C., Vecchi, G.A., Collins, M., Delworth, T.L., Hall, A. et al. (2015). Towards predictive understanding of regional climate change. Nature Climate Change, 5: 921-930.

Zappa, G., Shaffrey, L.C., Hodges, K.I., Sansom, P.G., Stephenson, D.B. (2013). A multimodel assessment of future projections of north Atlantic and European extratropical cyclones in the CMIP5 climate models. Journal of Climate 26: 5846–5862.

Zhang, X., Alexander, L., Hegerl, G.C. et al. (2011). Indices for monitoring changes in extremes based on daily temperature and precipitation data. Wiley Interdisc. Rev. Clim. Chang. 2 :851–870.

Zhang, Z., Colle, B.A. (2017). Changes in extratropical cyclone precipitation and associated processes during the twenty-first century over eastern North America and the western Atlantic using a cyclone-relative approach. Journal of Climate 30: 8633-8656.

Ziegler, A.D., Maurer, E.P., Sheffield, J. et al. (2005). Detection time for plausible changes in annual precipitation, evapotranspiration, and streamflow in three Mississippi River sub-basins. Climatic Change 72: 17-36.